Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: November 29, 2020 ACCEPTED: January 11, 2021 PUBLISHED: February 24, 2021

Effective field theory for heavy vector resonances coupled to the Standard Model

Mathias Heiles,^a Matthias König^{b,c} and Matthias Neubert^{a,c,d}

- ^a PRISMA Cluster of Excellence & Mainz Institute for Theoretical Physics, Johannes Gutenberg University,
 55099 Mainz, Germany
 ^b Physik Department T31, Technische Universität München,
 James Frank Straffe 1, 25748 Comphing, Company
- James-Frank-Straße 1, 85748 Garching, Germany
- ^c Physik-Institut, Universität Zürich, CH-8057, Switzerland
- ^dDepartment of Physics & LEPP, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY 14853, U.S.A. E-mail: mheiles@students.uni-mainz.de, matthias.koenig@tum.de,

matthias.neubert@uni-mainz.de

ABSTRACT: We construct an effective field theory describing the decays of a heavy vector resonance V into Standard Model particles. The effective theory is built using an extension of Soft-Collinear Effective Theory called SCET_{BSM}, which provides a rigorous framework for parameterizing decay matrix elements with manifest power counting in the ratio of the electroweak scale and the mass of the resonance, $\lambda \sim v/m_V$. Using the renormalizationgroup evolution of the couplings in the effective Lagrangian, large logarithms associated with this scale ratio can be resummed to all orders. We consider in detail the two-body decays of a heavy Z' boson and of a Kaluza-Klein gluon at leading and subleading order in λ . We illustrate the matching onto SCET_{BSM} with a concrete example of a UV-complete new-physics model.

KEYWORDS: Beyond Standard Model, Effective Field Theories, Resummation

ARXIV EPRINT: 2011.08205



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Construction of the effective theory	3
	2.1 Basic elements of SCET	3
	2.2 Heavy-vector effective theory	6
	2.3 Operator basis at leading order	8
	2.4 Operator basis at subleading order	10
3	Matrix elements and decay rates	12
	3.1 Z' decays into fermion pairs	13
	3.2 Z' decays into hV final states	14
	3.3 Z' decays into two gauge bosons	14
4	Resummation of large logarithms	16
5	Extension to non-singlet resonances	20
	5.1 Operator basis	20
	5.2 Decay amplitudes and rates	21
	5.3 Resummation of large logarithms	22
6	Matching calculations for a UV completion of the SM	23
	6.1 Matching coefficients of the leading fermionic operators	24
	6.2 Matching coefficient of the leading bosonic operator	24
	6.3 Matching and running in the double-hierarchy scenario	26
7	Conclusions	32
A	Operator basis at subleading order	34
в	Mass diagonalization in the vector-like quark model	37

1 Introduction

After the discovery of a new heavy resonance, studying its couplings to the particles of the Standard Model (SM) will be of utmost importance. This can be achieved, in particular, by investigating on-shell decays of the resonance into SM final states. In order to separate the different energy scales relevant for these decay processes, the method of effective field theory (EFT) offers a valuable tool. Scale separation is desirable for two reasons: first, by separating the new physics from SM physics, it allows for a model-independent description

that can be adapted to any specific new-physics scenario with only little effort. The effective theory is constructed as a systematic expansion in the small parameter $\lambda \sim v/\Lambda$, where we assume a large hierarchy between the electroweak scale $v \approx 246$ GeV and the new-physics scale Λ . By using an EFT approach the processes of interest can be described without knowledge of the full underlying theory. Second, by constructing the appropriate operator basis the power counting is manifested at the level of the Lagrangian, while at the same time keeping large logarithms of the scale ratio under control.

The appropriate EFT for low-energy physics is an extension of the SM called SMEFT, in which the effective operators contain SM fields only, and new physics enters through the Wilson coefficients of these operators. However, this approach cannot provide a meaningful description of the on-shell decays of a new heavy resonances. The scale separation in this case is between the energy injected into the final-state particles and their mass, $E_i \sim m_V \gg m_i$, where *i* labels the final-state particles. The appropriate framework for this situation is Soft-Collinear Effective Theory (SCET) [1–4], an effective theory for highly energetic light particles. In SCET every SM field is split up into momentum modes that are either collinear with an energetic final-state particle or soft. Modes with large virtualities are integrated out in the Wilsonian way. The effective theory is built from gaugeinvariant building blocks, which are comprised of the soft and collinear fields dressed with Wilson lines.

In refs. [5, 6], the original formulation of SCET has been extended to an effective theory called SCET_{BSM}, which describes light SM fields coupled to a field describing a hypothetical new heavy resonance with mass much above the electroweak scale. In these papers the operator basis was constructed up to third (and partially fourth) order in the expansion parameter λ for the case of a scalar resonance S transforming as a singlet under the SM gauge group. In the present work we extend the framework to the case of heavy vector resonances, while at the same time allowing for the resonance to carry SM charges. An additional subtlety in this case arises from the fact that theories with massive vector fields are a priori not renormalizable. The mass of the resonance must either be acquired via a Higgs-like mechanism, or the resonance must arise as a composite state from a confining strong interaction. Neither of these mechanisms are visible to the effective theory. Hence, the vector resonance needs to be described in a fashion analogous to the b quark in Heavy-Quark Effective Theory (HQET) [7-9], in which only the soft fluctuations of the heavy field remain as dynamical degrees of freedom. In this way, the effective Lagrangian is renormalized even though the vector resonance can appear as a (soft) virtual particle in loop diagrams. For most of this work we focus on the case of a vector resonance transforming as a SM singlet, which is commonly referred to as a Z' boson. In this case no loop-amplitudes with virtual heavy vector resonances exist. Even then, however, introducing an effective field for the heavy vector meson is needed to restrict the operator basis and keep the EFT power counting consistent, because different components of the vector field obey different scaling rules in the EFT.

Massive, gauge-singlet vector bosons are common ingredients of many theories beyond the SM, typically appearing as gauge bosons of larger symmetry groups that are broken to the SM one. As such they appear frequently in models with a gauged B-L charge, models of compositeness or theories with extra dimensions (see [10] for a comprehensive review). In the context of the persisting *B*-physics anomalies, they have raised interest as potential mediators of the $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ anomalies [11–13], and they are part of the new-physics spectrum of more comprehensive models offering combined explanations of the anomalies in $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ and $b \rightarrow c\ell^-\bar{\nu}$ transitions [14, 15]. Even though the main mediators in the latter models are vector leptoquarks, it can be shown that a Z' boson cannot be avoided in such constructions [16]. The framework outlined in this paper can be used to describe the decays of heavy vector resonances into SM fields, including the sizable resummation effects affecting the decay rates, in an economic and systematic way.

This paper is organized as follows: in section 2 we begin with a brief review of the necessary ingredients of SCET, followed by a discussion of the construction of the Heavy-Vector Effective Theory (HVET) needed to describe the heavy resonance in the effective Lagrangian. For the most interesting case of a gauge-singlet resonance Z', we then discuss in detail the construction of the operator basis for two-prong decays at leading and subleading order in power counting. In section 3 we derive the corresponding decay amplitudes at tree level. The renormalization-group (RG) running of the matching coefficients and the resummation of large logarithms is discussed in section 4. In section 5 we generalize our framework to vector resonances that are charged under the SM gauge group. Finally, we illustrate our approach with the example of a specific UV completion in section 6. Our conclusions are given in section 7.

2 Construction of the effective theory

2.1 Basic elements of SCET

We now give a brief overview of the necessary ingredients of SCET relevant to this paper, referring the reader to [5] for a more detailed discussion. SCET_{BSM} is an EFT for energetic light SM particles coupled to a new heavy particle, which serves as a source of large energy. All operators in this EFT must be invariant under the (unbroken) SM gauge group. For each direction of large momentum flow, one specifies a set of light-like reference vectors n_i and \bar{n}_i , satisfying $n_i^2 = \bar{n}_i^2 = 0$ and $n_i \cdot \bar{n}_i = 2$. In the present work, we limit our attention to two-prong final states, which in the rest frame of the decaying resonance are always in a back-to-back configuration. We can thus choose a single set of reference vectors

$$n^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 1), \qquad \bar{n}^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, -1), \qquad (2.1)$$

each denoting a direction of large momentum flow. Any 4-momentum can then be decomposed as

$$k^{\mu} = \frac{n^{\mu}}{2} \,\bar{n} \cdot k + \frac{\bar{n}^{\mu}}{2} \,n \cdot k + k^{\mu}_{\perp} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

In a similar manner, the metric tensor can be decomposed as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} + \frac{n_{\mu}\bar{n}_{\nu} + \bar{n}_{\mu}n_{\nu}}{2} \,. \tag{2.3}$$

Lorentz indices in the transverse plane orthogonal to the reference vectors n^{μ} and \bar{n}^{μ} can be contracted with the help of the symmetric and antisymmetric two-index tensors $g^{\perp}_{\mu\nu}$ and

$$\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \, \frac{n^{\rho} \bar{n}^{\sigma}}{2} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

In general, the effective theory for two-prong decays contains fields whose momenta obey the scaling laws

$$(\bar{n} \cdot k, n \cdot k, k_{\perp}) \sim E(1, \lambda^{2}, \lambda); \quad \text{``collinear''}$$

$$(\bar{n} \cdot k, n \cdot k, k_{\perp}) \sim E(\lambda^{2}, 1, \lambda); \quad \text{``anti-collinear''}$$

$$(\bar{n} \cdot k, n \cdot k, k_{\perp}) \sim E(\lambda, \lambda, \lambda); \quad \text{``soft''}$$

$$(\bar{n} \cdot k, n \cdot k, k_{\perp}) \sim E(\lambda^{2}, \lambda^{2}, \lambda^{2}); \quad \text{``ultra-soft''}$$

$$(2.5)$$

where $E \sim m_V$ is the characteristic decay energy, which scales with the mass of the decaying resonance. Note that ultra-soft modes can only arise for massless fields in the lowenergy theory. Since some of the low-energy degrees of freedom can have large momentum components (of order E), derivatives acting on (anti-)collinear fields are not necessarily power-suppressed, and hence the most general effective Lagrangian contains an infinite number of operators with arbitrary powers of large derivatives. They can be traded for nonlocalities of the composite operators and their Wilson coefficients along light-like directions, over which the Lagrangian is then integrated. In momentum space, this important feature of SCET results in a dependence of the Wilson coefficients on the mass of the decaying resonance in addition to the masses of other heavy particles that have been integrated out. All remaining derivatives on SCET fields correspond to small momentum components and give rise to power-suppressed contributions.

In the presence of the above-mentioned non-local operator products, gauge invariance is restored by means of collinear and anti-collinear Wilson lines, defined as

$$W_{n}^{(A)}(x) = P \exp\left[ig_{A} t_{A}^{a} \int_{-\infty}^{0} ds \,\bar{n} \cdot A_{n}^{a}(x+s\bar{n})\right], \qquad (2.6)$$

and similarly for $W_{\bar{n}}^{(A)}(x)$. Here g_A denotes the gauge coupling associated with the gauge field A, and t_A^a is the group generator in the representation of the field on which the Wilson line acts. For the hypercharge Wilson line $W_n^{(B)}$ the generator is replaced by the hypercharge operator. The object P is the path-ordering symbol. Wilson lines often play no role in tree-level calculations in SCET, because they correspond to longitudinally polarized gauge fields, which are unphysical for massless fields. For final states containing electroweak bosons, however, the Wilson lines do generate physical final states, as we will see later.

The relevant SCET operators consist of products of "building blocks" comprised of the fields dressed with Wilson lines [3, 17]. For the Higgs doublet, the *n*-collinear building block is

$$\Phi_n(x) = W_n^{\dagger}(x) \phi_n(x), \qquad W_n(x) \equiv W_n^{(W)}(x) W_n^{(B)}(x).$$
(2.7)

Here $\phi_n(x)$ refers to a projection of the quantum field $\phi(x)$ for the SM Higgs doublet onto its Fourier modes carrying a collinear momentum with scaling as shown in (2.5). The building block for an *n*-collinear fermion is given by

$$\Psi_n(x) = P_n W_n^{\dagger}(x) \,\psi_n(x) = \frac{\# \vec{n}}{4} \,W_n^{\dagger}(x) \,\psi_n(x) \,, \qquad (2.8)$$

where W_n is the appropriate product of Wilson lines depending on the charges of the fermion under the SM gauge group. The projection operator P_n singles out the large components of the spinor of a highly energetic fermion. Finally, for an *n*-collinear gauge field the building block is defined as

$$\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\mu}(x) \equiv \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\mu,a}(x) t_{A}^{a} = W_{n}^{(A)\dagger}(x) \left[i D_{n}^{\mu} W_{n}^{(A)}(x) \right]$$

= $g_{A} \int_{-\infty}^{0} ds \, \bar{n}_{\nu} \left[W_{n}^{(A)\dagger} F_{n}^{\nu\mu} W_{n}^{(A)} \right] (x + s\bar{n}) \,.$ (2.9)

Here D_n^{μ} and $F_n^{\nu\mu}$ are the covariant derivative and field-strength tensor associated with the collinear gauge field A_n^{μ} . Written in this form the gauge fields contain the generators t_A^a of the gauge group, and in the case of the $U(1)_Y$ gauge field we define $\mathcal{B}_n^{\mu}(x) \equiv \mathcal{B}_n^{\mu,a}(x) Y$, where a = 1 and Y is the hypercharge operator. By definition, the *n*-collinear building blocks satisfy the constraints

An important fact is that one can associate a consistent power counting in λ with the effective fields defined in SCET, finding

$$\Phi_n \sim \lambda, \qquad \Psi_n \sim \lambda, \qquad \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp} \sim \lambda, \qquad n \cdot \mathcal{A}_n \sim \lambda^2.$$
(2.11)

Importantly, the large component $\bar{n} \cdot A_n$, which would scale like λ^0 , vanishes by virtue of the constraint (2.10). The anti-collinear building blocks, defined with n and \bar{n} exchanged everywhere, obey the same scaling rules. In addition, one can define soft and ultra-soft fields in the EFT, which obey the scaling laws

$$\phi_s \sim \lambda, \qquad \psi_s \sim \lambda^{3/2}, \qquad A_s^{\mu} \sim \lambda, \qquad (2.12)$$

and

$$\phi_{us} \sim \lambda^2 , \qquad \psi_{us} \sim \lambda^3 , \qquad A^{\mu}_{us} \sim \lambda^2 .$$
 (2.13)

It follows that adding more fields to an operator always increases its scaling with λ , giving rise to higher power suppression in the ratio of the electroweak scale to the new-physics scale. This important fact ensures that, as long as one is interested in the leading and subleading terms in the power expansion, a relatively small number of operators contributes. Operators in the EFT can also contain derivatives ∂^{μ} acting on the fields, but only those derivatives corresponding to small momentum components can appear, which again gives rise to a suppression in powers of λ . Besides the usual momentum modes in SCET, one also needs to introduce a static mode $\Phi_0 \sim \lambda$ carrying no four-momentum in order to encode the effects of electroweak symmetry breaking (EWSB) [5]. In the broken phase, this mode will be replaced by the Higgs vacuum expectation value (VEV), i.e.

$$\Phi_0 \xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\v \end{pmatrix}. \tag{2.14}$$

2.2 Heavy-vector effective theory

We will describe the heavy vector resonance V, which in general can be charged or uncharged under the SM gauge group, in terms of an effective vector field $V_v^{\mu}(x)$ subject to the constraint $v \cdot V_v(x) = 0$. Here v^{μ} with $v^2 = 1$ is the 4-velocity of the on-shell resonance (not to be confused with the Higgs VEV), and in the rest frame $v^{\mu} = (1, \mathbf{0})$. For the case where the resonance is charged under the SM, it can interact in the EFT with soft or ultra-soft SM gauge bosons, which can take its momentum p^{μ} off-shell by a small amount, such that

$$p^{\mu} = m_V v^{\mu} + k^{\mu} \,, \tag{2.15}$$

with $k^{\mu}/m_{V} = \mathcal{O}(\lambda)$ or $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2})$. While an on-shell vector boson satisfies the constraint $v \cdot \varepsilon_{V} = 0$ trivially, the time-like mode $v \cdot V$ might still propagate in EFT loop diagrams, but it cannot do so as a hard degree of freedom, since hard quantum fluctuations are — by definition — already integrated out. In order to separate the relevant scales in a consistent way, one needs to decompose the resonance into an on-shell component and soft fluctuations of small virtualities, using a construction analogous to HQET [7–9].

Another potential problem in this context is that theories with massive vector fields are, in general, not renormalizable. The problem can be seen by considering the propagator

$$\Pi_V^{\mu\nu}(p) = \frac{i}{p^2 - m_V^2} \left(-g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{p^\mu p^\nu}{m_V^2} \right), \qquad (2.16)$$

which gives rise to highly divergent terms in loop calculations. For example, when computing the self-energy of the vector field, the second term leads to divergences that cannot be absorbed by counterterms of the form $i\delta_V(p^2g^{\mu\nu} - p^{\mu}p^{\nu}) + i\delta_m g^{\mu\nu}$, because they are proportional to higher powers of p^2 . We will now show that the problematic terms originate from modes of the vector field that live at or above the hard scale. Once these modes are integrated out in the construction of the HVET, the resulting EFT is renormalizable in the usual sense.

For concreteness, we perform the construction of the HVET for the case of a (real) massive vector field V^a_{μ} transforming in the adjoint representation of $SU(3)_c$. Such a particle appears, e.g., in the form of a Kaluza-Klein gluon in extensions of the SM with a compact extra dimension. The corresponding Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{V} = -\frac{1}{4} \left(D_{\mu} V_{\nu} - D_{\nu} V_{\mu} \right)^{a} \left(D^{\mu} V^{\nu} - D^{\nu} V^{\mu} \right)^{a} + \frac{m_{V}^{2}}{2} V_{\mu}^{a} V^{\mu,a} , \qquad (2.17)$$

where $(D_{\mu}V_{\nu})^a = \partial_{\mu}V_{\nu}^a + g_s f^{abc} G^b_{\mu}V^c_{\nu}$ is the covariant derivative of the vector field, and G^a_{μ} denotes the ordinary gluon field. We now introduce the projection operators

$$P_{\parallel}^{\mu\nu} = v^{\mu}v^{\nu} , \qquad P_{\perp v}^{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} - v^{\mu}v^{\nu} , \qquad (2.18)$$

where the symbol \perp_v means the projection of a vector onto its components perpendicular to the 4-vector v^{μ} , which is different from the \perp symbol defined in (2.2). We can then split up the vector field V^a_{μ} into longitudinal and transverse polarization states, i.e.

$$V^{\mu,a} = P^{\mu\nu}_{\parallel} V^a_{\nu} + P^{\mu\nu}_{\perp_v} V^a_{\nu} \equiv V^{\mu,a}_{\parallel} + V^{\mu,a}_{\perp_v} \,. \tag{2.19}$$

Studying the propagator of these fields we find that the two modes have different power counting, namely

$$\langle 0|T\{V_i^{\mu,a}(x), V_i^{\nu,b}(0)\}|0\rangle = \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{i\delta^{ab}e^{-ip\cdot x}}{p^2 - m_V^2} \begin{cases} -\frac{2v\cdot k}{m_V}v^{\mu}v^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(k^2/m_V^2); & i = \parallel, \\ g^{\mu\nu} - v^{\mu}v^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(k^2/m_V^2); & i = \perp_v. \end{cases}$$
(2.20)

We observe that the component $V_{\parallel}^{\mu,a}$ is suppressed, with respect to $V_{\perp_v}^{\mu,a}$, by one power of k/m_V . It is this small component that is integrated out in the construction of HVET.

More accurately, we define effective field operators via

$$[V^{\mu,a}(x)]_{\rm in} \equiv e^{-im_V v \cdot x} V^{\mu,a}_{\rm eff}(x) = e^{-im_V v \cdot x} [V^{\mu,a}_v(x) + v^{\mu} \mathbb{V}^a_v(x)] ,$$

$$[V^{\mu,a}(x)]_{\rm out} \equiv e^{im_V v \cdot x} V^{\mu,a\dagger}_{\rm eff}(x) = e^{im_V v \cdot x} \left[V^{\mu,a\dagger}_v(x) + v^{\mu} \mathbb{V}^a_v(x) \right] ,$$

$$(2.21)$$

where

$$V_{v}^{\mu,a}(x) = V_{\text{eff},\perp_{v}}^{\mu,a}(x) , \qquad \mathbb{V}_{v}^{a}(x) = v_{\mu}V_{\text{eff},\parallel}^{\mu,a}(x) , \qquad (2.22)$$

and

$$v_{\mu}V_{v}^{\mu,a}(x) = 0. \qquad (2.23)$$

The label "v" indicates that these are effective fields describing initial-state heavy vector particles with 4-velocity v^{μ} . Because of the phase factors $e^{\mp i m_V v \cdot x}$ pulled out, these fields carry the residual momentum k^{μ} defined in (2.15). The subscript "in" ("out") in the first (second) relation of (2.21) means that one must keep only the terms involving annihilation (creation) operators in the Fourier representation of the quantum field $V^{\mu,a}(x) = [V^{\mu,a}(x)]_{\rm in} + [V^{\mu,a}(x)]_{\rm out}$.

Inserting the decompositions (2.21) into the Lagrangian (2.17) of the vector resonance, and keeping only the soft interaction terms, in which the phase factors $e^{\pm im_V v \cdot x}$ cancel out, one obtains

$$\mathcal{L}_V^{\text{eff}} = -g_{\mu\nu} m_V \left[V_v^{\mu,a\dagger} (iv \cdot DV_v^{\nu})^a - \mathbb{V}_v^{a\dagger} iD^{\mu} V_v^{\nu,a} + \text{h.c.} \right] + m_V^2 \mathbb{V}_v^{a\dagger} \mathbb{V}_v^a + \mathcal{O}(m_V^0), \quad (2.24)$$

where the terms of $\mathcal{O}(m_V^0)$ contain two derivatives on the fields and hence correspond to terms of quadratic order in the small residual momentum. Solving the classical equations of motion for the field \mathbb{V}_v^a yields

$$\mathbb{V}_{v}^{a} = -\frac{1}{m_{V}} i D_{\mu} V_{v}^{\mu,a} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{m_{V}^{2}}\right).$$
(2.25)

Inserting this solution back into the Lagrangian leads to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{HVET}} = 2m_V \left[\left(-P_{\perp_v}^{\mu\nu} \right) V_v^{\mu,a\dagger} \left(iv \cdot DV_v^{\nu} \right)^a + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{m_V} \right) \right].$$
(2.26)

The above result is analogous to the HQET Lagrangian, which is indeed a consequence of heavy-quark spin symmetry [9]. We have refrained from performing a rescaling of the field V_v by $1/\sqrt{2m_V}$ (which would remove the prefactor $2m_V$) for the sake of this field retaining the canonical mass dimension of a vector field. The Feynman propagator for the vector field in HVET takes the form

$$\Pi_V^{\mu\nu}(k) = \frac{-iP_{\perp v}^{\mu\nu}}{2m_V(v \cdot k + i\epsilon)}, \qquad (2.27)$$

which does not possess the problematic behavior for large momenta that we saw in (2.16). Consequently, the effective theory is renormalizable independently of the origin of the vector-boson mass. This is indeed to be expected, since the EFT does not know about the details of its UV completion. The Feynman rule for the coupling of a colored vector field to a gluon with color index a and Lorentz index α is

$$2m_V \left(-P_{\perp v}^{\mu\nu}\right) g_s f^{abc} v^{\alpha} , \qquad (2.28)$$

where μ , $b(\nu, c)$ are the Lorentz and color indices of the outgoing (incoming) vector field.

For most of our discussion we will consider a gauge-singlet vector boson Z', for which the covariant derivative in (2.26) must be replaced by an ordinary derivative and the color index *a* must be dropped. At leading order in $1/m_V$ the effective Lagrangian is that of a free particle without interactions. The on-shell momentum of the Z' bosons can be written as $p_{Z'}^{\mu} = m_V v^{\mu}$ (without a residual momentum k^{μ}), where without loss of generality we can choose $v_{\perp}^{\mu} = 0$. The most important property of the HVET field $Z_v'^{\mu}$ in this case is that it satisfies the constraint (2.23). We will return to the case of a color-octet vector resonance in section 5.

2.3 Operator basis at leading order

We now proceed to construct the operator basis of the effective Lagrangian at leading and subleading order in $\lambda = v/m_V$, considering the case of a gauge-singlet vector field Z'for concreteness. We will derive the effective Lagrangian for two-prong decays of this new resonance. The relevant operators must contain at least one *n*-collinear and one \bar{n} -collinear field, and since according to (2.11) each collinear field scales with at least one power of λ , the leading operators start at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$. Note that all operators must be invariant under the exchange of the reference vectors n and \bar{n} . Gauge and Lorentz invariance then allow for three options, namely operators containing a Z'^{μ}_v field along with a pair of fermions, a pair of Higgs fields or a pair of transverse gauge fields. In each case the Lorentz index of the Z' field must be contracted with some 4-vector index. For the case of fermions, the only possible structure is

$$O_{\psi\psi}^{ij} = Z_{\nu\mu}' \left(\bar{\Psi}_n^i \gamma_\perp^\mu \Psi_{\bar{n}}^j + \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^i \gamma_\perp^\mu \Psi_n^j \right), \qquad (2.29)$$

where γ_{\perp}^{μ} is defined as in (2.2). The effective fermion field Ψ can represent any one of the chiral SM fermion multiplets Q_L, d_R, u_R, L_L, e_R , where i, j = 1, 2, 3 are generation indices. The leading-order couplings of the Z' boson to fermions must necessarily involve fermion fields with equal chiralities, because fermion bilinears made out of opposite-chirality fields need an insertion of the Higgs doublet for gauge invariance. Such operators are thus of higher order in power counting. One may wonder if there exists a second operator of the type shown in (2.29), in which the field $Z_v^{\prime\mu}$ and the Dirac matrix γ_{\perp}^{ν} are contracted using the antisymmetric $\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp}$ symbol. However, because of the identity [18]

$$P_n^{\dagger} \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \gamma_{\perp}^{\nu} P_{\bar{n}} = i P_n^{\dagger} \gamma_{\mu}^{\perp} \gamma_5 P_{\bar{n}}$$

$$(2.30)$$

this does not give rise to a new structure, as γ_5 can be replaced by one of its eigenvalues ± 1 when acting on the chiral fermion fields of the SM.

For the case of the Z' coupling to two Higgs fields, we need to construct a 4-vector that can be contracted with the effective field Z'^{μ}_{v} . Since any derivative acting on a field in the EFT is power-suppressed in λ , we must build this 4-vector out of the reference vectors v, n and \bar{n} . Owing to the condition $v \cdot Z'_{v} = 0$, the only possible choice is

$$\Pi^{\mu} = \frac{(v \cdot \bar{n}) n^{\mu} - (v \cdot n) \bar{n}^{\mu}}{2} , \qquad (2.31)$$

which in the rest frame of the Z' boson and with our standard choice of reference vectors evaluates to $\Pi^{\mu} = (0, 0, 0, 1)$. Note that this object is odd under the exchange of n and \bar{n} . It follows that the relevant operator is

$$O_{\phi\phi} = m_{Z'} \Pi \cdot Z'_v \left(\Phi_n^{\dagger} \Phi_{\bar{n}} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \Phi_n \right).$$
(2.32)

The factor $m_{Z'}$ is inserted here to ensure that the Wilson coefficient of this operator is dimensionless. Despite appearance, the operator $O_{\phi\phi}$ is hermitian. The argument showing this is somewhat subtle, so let us explain it in detail. Consider the hermitian current operator $\phi^{\dagger}i\overrightarrow{D}^{\mu}\phi$, which may arise in some UV completion of the SM. When mapped onto SCET, the field ϕ gets replaced by the building blocks $\phi \to \Phi_n + \Phi_{\bar{n}} + \dots$ up to a possible soft contribution, and the leading-order contributions (in powers of λ) arise from the large components of the derivatives acting on the collinear fields. One obtains

$$\phi^{\dagger}i\overleftrightarrow{D}^{\mu}\phi \to \Phi_{n}^{\dagger}\left(\frac{\bar{n}^{\mu}}{2}in\cdot\partial - \frac{n^{\mu}}{2}i\bar{n}\cdot\overleftarrow{\partial}\right)\Phi_{\bar{n}} + \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger}\left(\frac{n^{\mu}}{2}i\bar{n}\cdot\partial - \frac{\bar{n}^{\mu}}{2}in\cdot\overleftarrow{\partial}\right)\Phi_{n} + \dots, \qquad (2.33)$$

up to power-suppressed terms. If the fields carry outgoing momenta p_n^{α} and $p_{\bar{n}}^{\alpha}$ satisfying $p_n^{\alpha} + p_{\bar{n}}^{\alpha} = m_{Z'}v^{\alpha}$, like in our case, then the leading terms reduce to

$$\phi^{\dagger} i \overleftrightarrow{D}^{\mu} \phi \to m_{Z'} \Pi^{\mu} (\Phi_n^{\dagger} \Phi_{\bar{n}} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \Phi_n) + \dots$$
(2.34)

The point is that under a hermitian conjugation the effective field for the heavy vector meson $Z_v^{\prime\mu}$, which only contains an annihilation operator, is transformed into the conjugate field $Z_v^{\dagger\prime\mu}$, which contains a creation operator. In other words, the Z' boson is moved from the initial to the final state. One needs to perform a crossing transformation to move this

particle back into the initial state, and in this processes one must replace $v^{\mu} \rightarrow -v^{\mu}$. It follows that under hermitian conjugation the quantity Π^{μ} defined in (2.31) changes sign, and hence the operator $O_{\phi\phi}$ is indeed hermitian.

Finally, for the case where the Z' field couples to two transverse gauge fields, the transverse Lorentz indices of the gauge fields must be contracted with each other, which only leaves the possibility to contract the Z' field with the object Π^{μ} . The fact that the gauge fields are hermitian then implies that only the combination

$$m_{Z'} \Pi \cdot Z'_v \epsilon^{\perp}_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp\mu,a} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,a} \tag{2.35}$$

could potentially be non-zero. However, it can easily be seen that the contraction $\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp\mu} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu}$ is even under the exchange of n and \bar{n} , and hence the above operator is not allowed.

This exhausts all options at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$. The most general effective Lagrangian at this order is therefore (a sum over repeated indices is implied)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{(2)} = C_{\phi\phi}(m_{Z'},\mu) \, O_{\phi\phi}(\mu) + \sum_{\psi} C_{\psi\psi}^{ij}(m_{Z'},\mu) \, O_{\psi\psi}^{ij}(\mu) \tag{2.36}$$

where the sum in the second term runs over all SM fermion multiplets. The Wilson coefficient $C_{\phi\phi}$ is real, while the coefficients $C_{\psi\psi}^{ij}$ form the entries of 3×3 hermitian matrices. If these matrices are complex, then the fermion operators can mediate CP-violating interactions, in analogy with the CKM matrix in the SM. As we will see later, after EWSB the first operator generates the two-body decays $Z' \to hZ$ and $Z' \to W^+W^-$, but not $Z' \to ZZ, Z' \to Z\gamma$ and $Z' \to h\gamma$. The decay $Z' \to hh$ is forbidden by angular momentum conservation, while $Z' \to \gamma\gamma$ and $Z' \to gg$ are forbidden by the Landau-Yang theorem [19, 20].

2.4 Operator basis at subleading order

At $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$ in SCET power counting a large number of operators contribute. A complete basis of these operators is given in appendix A. It includes same-chirality fermion operators (like $O_{\psi\psi}$) containing an additional gauge boson, opposite-chirality fermion operators containing an additional Higgs doublet, di-Higgs operators (like $O_{\phi\phi}$) containing an additional gauge boson, and operators containing two or three gauge fields. Some of these operators contain a soft gauge or Higgs field. They are relevant for the description of decay processes in which one allows for soft radiation in addition to the two energetic final-state particles (or particle jets). In the operators containing three collinear fields, two of them belong to the same (*n*-collinear or \bar{n} -collinear) jet. These operators are relevant for higher-order calculations, in which one allows for loops of collinear particles or collinear emissions inside the same jet.

In this work we are primarily interested in lowest-order predictions for the decay amplitudes, which we will then improve by resumming large logarithmic corrections arising in the RG evolution from the new-physics scale down to the electroweak scale. Of all the

Channel	$O_{\phi\phi}$	$O_{B\phi}^{\parallel,\perp}$	$O_{W\phi}^{\parallel,\perp}$
$Z' \to W^+ W^-$	λ^2		λ^3
$Z' \to ZZ$		λ^3	λ^3
$Z' \to Z\gamma$		λ^3	λ^3
$Z' \rightarrow hZ$	λ^2	λ^3	λ^3
$Z' \to h\gamma$		λ^3	λ^3

Table 1. Overview of the contributions of various operators to the di-boson decay amplitudes.

 $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$ operators listed in appendix A, we then need to focus on the three operators

$$O_{\psi_L\psi_R}^{ij} = \frac{\Pi \cdot Z'_v}{m_{Z'}} \left(\bar{\Psi}_{L,n}^i \Phi_0 \Psi_{R,\bar{n}}^j - \bar{\Psi}_{L,\bar{n}}^i \Phi_0 \Psi_{R,n}^j \right),$$

$$O_{A\phi}^{\parallel} = g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z'_v^{\mu} \left(\Phi_n^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_0 + \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp\nu} \Phi_0 \right),$$

$$O_{A\phi}^{\perp} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z'_v^{\mu} \left(\Phi_n^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_0 - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp\nu} \Phi_0 \right),$$
(2.37)

where i, j are generation indices, and the gauge fields in the last two operators refer to either the hypercharge or the $SU(2)_L$ gauge group. Note that the transverse Levi-Civita symbol transforms with a sign change under $n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}$, and hence the remaining terms in the operator $O_{A\phi}^{\perp}$ must also be odd under this exchange. The first operator above mediates decays of the Z' boson into two fermions with opposite chiralities. After EWSB the remaining, purely bosonic operators mediate the decays $Z' \to ZZ$, $Z' \to Z\gamma$ and $Z' \to h\gamma$, which are not generated by $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$ operators, and they also give power-suppressed contributions to the decays $Z' \to W^+W^-$ and $Z' \to hZ$. We summarize the operators contributing to the various bosonic decay modes in table 1. The superscripts \parallel and \perp indicate that in the matrix elements of the operators the transverse polarization vectors of the Z' boson and the relevant gauge boson appear in the combination $\varepsilon_{Z'} \cdot \varepsilon_A^*$ and $\varepsilon_{Z'} \times \varepsilon_A^*$, respectively (in 3-vector notation). We write the effective Lagrangian at order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$ as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{(3)} = \sum_{\psi_L, \psi_R} C_{\psi_L \psi_R}^{ij}(m_{Z'}, \mu) \, O_{\psi_L \psi_R}^{ij}(\mu) + \sum_{A=B, W} \sum_{\sigma=\parallel, \perp} C_{A\phi}^{\sigma}(m_{Z'}, \mu) \, O_{A\phi}^{\sigma}(\mu) + \text{h.c.} + \dots \,,$$
(2.38)

where the dots refer to the many other operators listed in appendix A, which do not contribute at tree level to the amplitudes we consider. In the first term ψ_L and ψ_R are summed over the left- and right-handed fermion multiplets of the SM, where left-handed quarks must be paired with right-handed quarks, and likewise for leptons. For the case where $\psi_R = u_R$ the replacement $\Phi \to \tilde{\Phi}$ with $\tilde{\Phi}_a = \epsilon_{ab} \Phi_b^*$ must be made to ensure gauge invariance. The Wilson coefficients in this Lagrangian are arbitrary complex quantities. At $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$ in power counting, it is also possible to couple the Z' boson to two gauge fields. The relevant operators read

$$\tilde{O}_{AA}^{\parallel} = im_{Z'} g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{n}^{a} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,a} + v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{a} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a} \right),
\tilde{O}_{AA}^{\perp} = im_{Z'} \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{n}^{a} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,a} - v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{a} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a} \right),$$
(2.39)

where a sum over color indices a is implied for the non-abelian gauge fields. In the products $v \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^a$ and $v \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^a$ only the power-suppressed components of the gauge fields of $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$ contribute, e.g. $v \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^a = \frac{v \cdot \bar{n}}{2} n \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^a$. Our definitions of the operators $\tilde{O}_{AA}^{\parallel,\perp}$ contain a factor of i, such that these operators are hermitian (recall that $v^{\mu} \rightarrow -v^{\mu}$ under hermitian conjugation). We use a tilde to indicate that, consequently, the matrix elements of these operators are odd under a CP transformation. It is admissible to omit these two operators from our basis because they can be eliminated using the equations of motion [21]. This is discussed in more detail in appendix A. We find that

$$\tilde{O}_{AA}^{\sigma} = -ig_A^2 O_{A\phi}^{\sigma} + \text{h.c.} + \dots; \quad \sigma = \parallel, \perp, \qquad (2.40)$$

where $g_A = g$ or g' for A = W or B denote the gauge couplings of $SU(2)_L$ and $U(1)_Y$, respectively, and the dots refer to other operators not contained in (2.39). As a consequence of these relations, we find that adding the redundant operators (2.39) to our basis would simply redefine the imaginary parts of the Wilson coefficients $C^{\sigma}_{A\phi}$ according to

$$\Im m C^{\sigma}_{W\phi} \to \Im m C^{\sigma}_{W\phi} - g^2 \tilde{C}^{\sigma}_{WW}, \qquad \Im m C^{\sigma}_{B\phi} \to \Im m C^{\sigma}_{B\phi} - g'^2 \tilde{C}^{\sigma}_{BB}.$$
(2.41)

3 Matrix elements and decay rates

We now move on to present the two-body decay rates of a hypothetical heavy Z' boson into pairs of SM particles derived at tree level from the effective SCET_{BSM} Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{(2)} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{(3)} + \dots$$
(3.1)

In a given UV completion of the SM, this Lagrangian is generated at the new-physics scale $\Lambda \gtrsim m_{Z'}$. It must then be evolved down to the electroweak scale using RG equations, as discussed further in section 4. (In some cases an additional evolution below the weak scale may be required. This will not be discussed here.) At the electroweak scale we relate the various fields to the mass eigenstates of the SM particles defined after EWSB. In this step, the *n*-collinear Higgs doublet is written (in unitary gauge) as

$$\Phi_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} W_n^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ v+h_n \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where the electroweak Wilson line is given by

$$W_{n} = P \exp\left[\frac{ig}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{0} ds \left(\frac{\frac{c_{w}^{2} - s_{w}^{2}}{c_{w}} \bar{n} \cdot Z_{n} + 2s_{w} \bar{n} \cdot A_{n}}{\sqrt{2} \bar{n} \cdot W_{n}^{-}} - \frac{1}{c_{w}} \bar{n} \cdot Z_{n}\right) (s\bar{n})\right].$$
 (3.3)

Here s_w and c_w denote the sine and cosine of the electroweak mixing angle. In addition, the various fermion fields must be rotated to the mass basis by diagonalizing the SM Yukawa matrices. In this process the Wilson coefficients of the fermion operators in (2.36) and (2.38), which are matrices in generation space, are transformed as

$$C_{F_L F_L} \to U_f^{\dagger} C_{F_L F_L} U_f \equiv C_{f_L f_L} ,$$

$$C_{f_R f_R} \to W_f^{\dagger} C_{f_R f_R} W_f \equiv C_{f_R f_R} ,$$

$$C_{F_L f_R} \to U_f^{\dagger} C_{F_L f_R} W_f \equiv C_{f_L f_R} ,$$
(3.4)

where f_L (with a lower case) now refers to one of the two members of the left-handed doublet F_L , and U_f and W_f with f = u, d, e denote the rotation matrices transforming the left-handed and right handed fermions from the weak to the mass basis. In order not to clutter our notation too much, we use the same symbol but with a straight "C" instead of the slanted "C" for the Wilson coefficients in the mass basis.

3.1 Z' decays into fermion pairs

We begin with the decays into two fermions. The decay amplitude $Z' \to f^i \bar{f}^j$, where i, j are flavor indices, is given by

$$\mathcal{M}(Z' \to f_i \bar{f}_j) = \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu} \bar{u}_{s_1}(p_1) \left[\gamma_{\mu}^{\perp} \left(\mathcal{C}_{f_L f_L}^{ij} P_L + \mathcal{C}_{f_R f_R}^{ij} P_R \right) + \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}m_{Z'}} \Pi_{\mu} \left(\mathcal{C}_{f_L f_R}^{ij} P_R + \mathcal{C}_{f_L f_R}^{ji*} P_L \right) + \dots \right] P_{\bar{n}} v_{s_2}(p_2),$$

$$(3.5)$$

where s_1 and s_2 denote the spins of the fermions, and the dots indicate higher-order powersuppressed terms. We assume that the fermion f_i moves along the z-direction and the anti-fermion \bar{f}_j moves in the opposite direction. Note that the spinor product of the two highly energetic fermions makes the leading contributions to these amplitudes scale like one power of the hard scale $m_{Z'}$. For the decay rates of an unpolarized Z' boson into fermion pairs with specific helicities, we obtain (with A, B = L, R and $A \neq B$)

$$\Gamma(Z' \to f_A^i \bar{f}_A^j) = \frac{N_c^f m_{Z'}}{24\pi} \lambda^{1/2} \left(\frac{m_i^2}{m_{Z'}^2}, \frac{m_j^2}{m_{Z'}^2} \right) \left| \mathcal{C}_{f_A f_A}^{ij} \right|^2 \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^2}{m_{Z'}^2} \right) \right],
\Gamma(Z' \to f_A^i \bar{f}_B^j) = \frac{N_c^f m_{Z'}}{24\pi} \frac{v^2}{4m_{Z'}^2} \lambda^{1/2} \left(\frac{m_i^2}{m_{Z'}^2}, \frac{m_j^2}{m_{Z'}^2} \right) \left| \mathcal{C}_{f_A f_B}^{ij} \right|^2 \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^2}{m_{Z'}^2} \right) \right],$$
(3.6)

where $\mathbf{C}_{f_R f_L} \equiv \mathbf{C}_{f_L f_R}^{\dagger}$. The overall color factor is $N_c^f = 3$ for decays into quarks and $N_c^f = 1$ for decays into leptons. Note that the opposite-chirality rates are suppressed, relative to the same-chirality rates, by a factor of order $v^2/m_{Z'}^2$. In each case there are higher-order corrections suppressed by $v^2/m_{Z'}^2$ from higher-order operators in the SCET_{BSM} expansion. These include corrections involving the masses m_i and m_j of the final-state particles. In light of this, it would be consistent to replace the phase-space function $\lambda(x_1, x_2) = (1 - x_1 - x_2)^2 - 4x_1x_2$ in the above expression by 1.

3.2 Z' decays into hV final states

Without loss of generality we parameterize the $Z' \to hV$ decay amplitudes (with $V = Z, \gamma$) in terms of Lorentz-invariant form factors characterizing the different polarization states, i.e.

$$\mathcal{M}(Z' \to hZ) = m_{Z'} \left[\Pi \cdot \varepsilon_{Z'} m_Z \frac{n \cdot \varepsilon_Z^*}{n \cdot p_Z} F_L^{hZ} + g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu} \varepsilon_Z^{\nu*} F_T^{\parallel hZ} + \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu} \varepsilon_Z^{\nu*} F_T^{\perp hZ} \right],$$

$$\mathcal{M}(Z' \to h\gamma) = m_{Z'} \left[g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu} \varepsilon_{\gamma}^{\nu*} F_T^{\parallel h\gamma} + \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu} \varepsilon_{\gamma}^{\nu*} F_T^{\perp h\gamma} \right],$$
(3.7)

where we always choose the reference frame such that the first (second) particle in the final state moves along the positive (negative) z axis, aligned with the reference vectors n (\bar{n}). At leading order in $\lambda = v/m_{Z'}$ the form factors are given by

$$F_L^{hZ} = C_{\phi\phi} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^2}{m_{Z'}^2}\right),$$

$$F_T^{\sigma hZ} = -\frac{m_Z}{m_{Z'}} \Re e\left(c_w^2 C_{W\phi}^{\sigma} + s_w^2 C_{B\phi}^{\sigma}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^3}{m_{Z'}^3}\right); \quad \sigma = \parallel, \perp$$
(3.8)

and

$$F_T^{\sigma h\gamma} = -\frac{m_Z}{m_{Z'}} s_w c_w \,\Re e \left(C_{W\phi}^{\sigma} - C_{B\phi}^{\sigma} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^3}{m_{Z'}^3}\right); \quad \sigma = \parallel, \perp \,. \tag{3.9}$$

Note that the transverse form factors are suppressed by a factor $m_Z/m_{Z'}$, reflecting the fact that they descend from operators of subleading power in the SCET_{BSM} expansion.

For the unpolarized $Z' \to Vh$ decay rates we obtain

$$\Gamma(Z' \to hZ) = \frac{m_{Z'}}{48\pi} \lambda^{1/2} \left(\frac{m_Z^2}{m_{Z'}^2}, \frac{m_h^2}{m_{Z'}^2} \right) \left\{ |F_L^{hZ}|^2 + 2 \left[|F_T^{\parallel hZ}|^2 + |F_T^{\perp hZ}|^2 \right] \right\},$$

$$\Gamma(Z' \to h\gamma) = \frac{m_{Z'}}{24\pi} \left(1 - \frac{m_h^2}{m_{Z'}^2} \right) \left[|F_T^{\parallel h\gamma}|^2 + |F_T^{\perp h\gamma}|^2 \right].$$
(3.10)

The factor 2 in the first result accounts for the two transverse polarization states of the final-state vector meson. Note that the form factors can be complex functions in higher orders of perturbation theory, and we therefore use absolute value signs in the expression for the rates.

3.3 Z' decays into two gauge bosons

We finally turn to the decays of a Z' boson into a pair of gauge bosons. The corresponding decay amplitudes can be expressed in terms of the form-factor decomposition

$$\mathcal{M}(Z' \to V_1 V_2) = m_{Z'} \left[\Pi \cdot \varepsilon_{Z'} \, m_{V_1} \, \frac{\bar{n} \cdot \varepsilon_{V_1}^*}{\bar{n} \cdot p_{V_1}} \, m_{V_2} \, \frac{n \cdot \varepsilon_{V_2}^*}{n \cdot p_{V_2}} F_{LL}^{V_1 V_2} \right. \\ \left. + m_{V_1} \, \frac{\bar{n} \cdot \varepsilon_{V_1}^*}{\bar{n} \cdot p_{V_1}} \, \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu} \, \varepsilon_{V_2}^{\mu\nu} \left(g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{LT}^{\parallel V_1 V_2} + \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{LT}^{\perp V_1 V_2} \right) \right.$$

$$\left. + m_{V_2} \, \frac{n \cdot \varepsilon_{V_2}^*}{n \cdot p_{V_2}} \, \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu} \, \varepsilon_{V_1}^{\mu\nu} \left(g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{TL}^{\parallel V_1 V_2} - \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{TL}^{\perp V_1 V_2} \right) \right],$$

$$(3.11)$$

where we assume that particle V_1 moves along the positive z axis. The indices L and T on the form factors denote longitudinal and transverse polarizations of the two vector bosons V_1 and V_2 , respectively. As a consequence of the Landau-Yang theorem [19, 20], at least one of the final-state vector bosons needs to be longitudinally polarized. (This will no longer be true if the heavy vector meson carries color, see section 5.)

We now list our results for the various form factors for the three possible final states W^+W^- , ZZ and Z γ , obtained from the effective Lagrangian up to subleading order in λ . The purely longitudinal polarization configuration is only allowed for the decay $Z' \to W^+W^-$. We find

$$F_{LL}^{W^+W^-} = -C_{\phi\phi} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^2}{m_{Z'}^2}\right), \qquad F_{LL}^{ZZ} = F_{LL}^{Z\gamma} = 0.$$
(3.12)

An on-shell photon does not have a longitudinal polarization state, and for the ZZ final state the form factor F_{LL}^{ZZ} vanishes due to Bose symmetry. The contributions to the decay amplitude corresponding to mixed polarization states of the final-state particles arise at subleading order in power counting. We find

$$F_{LT}^{\sigma W^+W^-} = \frac{m_W}{m_{Z'}} C_{W\phi}^{\sigma} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^3}{m_{Z'}^3}\right),$$

$$F_{LT}^{\sigma ZZ} = i \frac{m_Z}{m_{Z'}} \Im m\left(c_w^2 C_{W\phi}^{\sigma} + s_w^2 C_{B\phi}^{\sigma}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^3}{m_{Z'}^3}\right),$$

$$F_{LT}^{\sigma Z\gamma} = i \frac{m_Z}{m_{Z'}} s_w c_w \Im m\left(C_{W\phi}^{\sigma} - C_{B\phi}^{\sigma}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^3}{m_{Z'}^3}\right),$$
(3.13)

as well as

$$F_{TL}^{\sigma W^+ W^-} = -\left(F_{LT}^{\sigma W^+ W^-}\right)^*, \qquad F_{TL}^{\sigma ZZ} = F_{LT}^{\sigma ZZ}, \qquad F_{TL}^{\sigma Z\gamma} = 0.$$
(3.14)

As previously $\sigma = \parallel, \perp$. Note that the $Z' \to ZZ$ and $Z' \to Z\gamma$ form factors are purely imaginary and therefore CP odd. By searching for these decay modes, is it possible to probe for the presence of CP-violating interactions in the UV theory.

It is instructive to compare our result for the $Z' \to ZZ$ decay amplitude with the findings of [22], where the authors parameterized the couplings of the two Z bosons to the Z' resonance in terms of the two operators

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} = f_4 Z'_{\mu} (\partial_{\nu} Z^{\mu}) Z^{\nu} + f_5 \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} Z'_{\mu} Z_{\nu} (\partial_{\rho} Z_{\sigma})$$
(3.15)

in the broken phase of the electroweak symmetry. For the corresponding contributions to the form factors we find

$$F_{LT}^{\parallel ZZ} = \frac{if_4 m_{Z'}}{2m_Z}, \qquad F_{LT}^{\perp ZZ} = \frac{if_5 m_{Z'}}{2m_Z}.$$
(3.16)

It follows that the coefficients f_4 and f_5 correspond to linear combinations of the imaginary parts of our Wilson coefficients $C^{\sigma}_{W\phi}$ and $C^{\sigma}_{B\phi}$.

In terms of the form factors defined in (3.11), the $Z' \to V_1 V_2$ decay rates of an unpolarized Z' boson are obtained as

$$\Gamma(Z' \to W^+ W^-) = \frac{m_{Z'}}{48\pi} \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m_W^2}{m_{Z'}^2}} \left\{ |F_{LL}^{W^+ W^-}|^2 + 4 \left[|F_{LT}^{\parallel W^+ W^-}|^2 + |F_{LT}^{\perp W^+ W^-}|^2 \right] \right\},
\Gamma(Z' \to ZZ) = \frac{m_{Z'}}{24\pi} \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m_Z^2}{m_{Z'}^2}} \left[|F_{LT}^{\parallel ZZ}|^2 + |F_{LT}^{\perp ZZ}|^2 \right],$$

$$\Gamma(Z' \to Z\gamma) = \frac{m_{Z'}}{24\pi} \left(1 - \frac{m_Z^2}{m_{Z'}^2} \right) \left[|F_{LT}^{\parallel Z\gamma}|^2 + |F_{LT}^{\perp Z\gamma}|^2 \right],$$
(3.17)

where we have used (3.14) included a symmetry factor of 1/2 in the second case.

4 Resummation of large logarithms

A key strength of any EFT framework is that it allows for a systematic resummation of large logarithms present in multi-scale problems, which could otherwise spoil the convergence of the perturbative expansion. This is achieved by solving the RG evolution equations of the theory. We now discuss the resummation of the large (single and double) logarithms of the ratio $m_{Z'}^2/m_{\rm SM}^2$ for two representative examples, focusing for simplicity on the operators arising in the leading-power effective Lagrangian (2.36). A detailed discussion of the derivation of the anomalous dimensions governing the scale dependence of the Wilson coefficients in the effective Lagrangian, both at leading and subleading order in λ , has been presented in ref. [5].

The Wilson coefficients $C_{\phi\phi}$ and $C_{\psi\psi}$ (considered as a matrix in generation space) obey the RG evolution equations

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} C_{\phi\phi}(m_{Z'}, \mu) = \Gamma_{\phi\phi}(\mu) C_{\phi\phi}(m_{Z'}, \mu),$$

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} C_{\psi\psi}(m_{Z'}, \mu) = \Gamma_{\psi\psi}(\mu) \otimes C_{\psi\psi}(m_{Z'}, \mu),$$
(4.1)

where the \otimes symbol in the second equation signals that a proper ordering of the two matrices must be taken into account. To all orders in perturbation theory the anomalous dimensions take the form [23, 24]

$$\Gamma_{\phi\phi}(\mu) = \left(\frac{1}{4}\gamma_{cusp}^{(1)} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma_{cusp}^{(2)}\right) \left(\ln\frac{m_{Z'}^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi\right) + 2\gamma^{\phi},$$

$$\Gamma_{Q_LQ_L}(\mu) = \left(\frac{1}{36}\gamma_{cusp}^{(1)} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma_{cusp}^{(2)} + \frac{4}{3}\gamma_{cusp}^{(3)}\right) \left(\ln\frac{m_{Z'}^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi\right) + \{\gamma^{Q_L}, ...\},$$

$$\Gamma_{L_LL_L}(\mu) = \left(\frac{1}{4}\gamma_{cusp}^{(1)} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma_{cusp}^{(2)}\right) \left(\ln\frac{m_{Z'}^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi\right) + \{\gamma^{L_L}, ...\},$$

$$\Gamma_{q_Rq_R}(\mu) = \left(e_q^2\gamma_{cusp}^{(1)} + \frac{4}{3}\gamma_{cusp}^{(3)}\right) \left(\ln\frac{m_{Z'}^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi\right) + \{\gamma^{q_R}, ...\}; \quad q = u, d,$$

$$\Gamma_{e_Re_R}(\mu) = \gamma_{cusp}^{(1)} \left(\ln\frac{m_{Z'}^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi\right) + \{\gamma^{e_R}, ...\}.$$
(4.2)

Terms without a boldface symbol are proportional to the unit matrix in generation space. The notation $\{\gamma^F, .\}$ means that

$$\{\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{F}, .\} \otimes \boldsymbol{C}_{\psi\psi} \equiv \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{F} \boldsymbol{C}_{\psi\psi} + \boldsymbol{C}_{\psi\psi} \, \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{F} \,.$$
 (4.3)

In general, the cusp anomalous dimensions $\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(r)}$ and the single-particle anomalous dimensions γ^i depend on the three gauge couplings $\alpha_1 = g'^2/(4\pi)$, $\alpha_2 = g^2/(4\pi)$ and $\alpha_3 = \alpha_s$, the quartic scalar coupling λ_{ϕ} and the Yukawa couplings. Up to two-loop order, however, the cusp anomalous dimension for the gauge group G_r only depends on the corresponding coupling α_r [25–27]. Note, in particular, that there are no contributions to the cusp anomalous dimensions from Yukawa interactions, because the relevant vertex graphs are found to be power suppressed. Explicitly, one finds

$$\gamma_{\rm cusp}^{(1)} = \frac{\alpha_1}{\pi} - \frac{17}{6} \left(\frac{\alpha_1}{\pi}\right)^2 + \dots,$$

$$\gamma_{\rm cusp}^{(2)} = \frac{\alpha_2}{\pi} + \left(2 - \frac{\pi^2}{6}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha_2}{\pi}\right)^2 + \dots,$$

$$\gamma_{\rm cusp}^{(3)} = \frac{\alpha_3}{\pi} + \left(\frac{47}{12} - \frac{\pi^2}{4}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha_3}{\pi}\right)^2 + \dots.$$
(4.4)

To one-loop order, the relevant single-particle anomalous dimensions read [5]

$$\gamma^{\phi} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{4\pi} - \frac{3\alpha_{2}}{4\pi} + \sum_{f} \frac{N_{c}^{f} y_{f}^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} + \dots ,$$

$$\gamma^{Q_{L}} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{144\pi} - \frac{9\alpha_{2}}{16\pi} - \frac{\alpha_{3}}{\pi} + \frac{1}{32\pi^{2}} \left(\boldsymbol{y}_{u} \boldsymbol{y}_{u}^{\dagger} + \boldsymbol{y}_{d} \boldsymbol{y}_{d}^{\dagger} \right) + \dots ,$$

$$\gamma^{L_{L}} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{16\pi} - \frac{9\alpha_{2}}{16\pi} + \frac{1}{32\pi^{2}} \boldsymbol{y}_{e} \boldsymbol{y}_{e}^{\dagger} + \dots ,$$

$$\gamma^{q_{R}} = -e_{q}^{2} \frac{\alpha_{1}}{4\pi} - \frac{\alpha_{3}}{\pi} + \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} \boldsymbol{y}_{q}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{y}_{q} + \dots ; \quad q = u, d,$$

$$\gamma^{e_{R}} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{4\pi} + \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} \boldsymbol{y}_{e}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{y}_{e} + \dots ,$$

(4.5)

where in the first expression the sum runs over the different fermion species f (the six quark flavors u, d, s, c, b, t and the three charged leptons e, μ, τ), \mathbf{y}_i with i = u, d, e are the SM Yukawa matrices, and y_f denotes the Yukawa coupling of the fermion f in the mass basis. When the Wilson coefficients $C_{\psi\psi}$ are transformed into the mass basis, as shown in (3.4), the Yukawa matrices in (4.5) are brought to diagonal form with the exception of γ^{Q_L} , for which one of the two terms in $(\mathbf{y}_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} + \mathbf{y}_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger})$ still contains off-diagonal entries. For the coefficients \mathbf{C}_{u_L} and \mathbf{C}_{d_L} one finds that this quantity is transformed into

$$\mathbf{C}_{u_L} : \quad \operatorname{diag}(y_u^2, y_c^2, y_t^2) + \mathbf{V} \operatorname{diag}(y_d^2, y_s^2, y_b^2) \mathbf{V}^{\dagger}, \\
 \mathbf{C}_{d_L} : \quad \mathbf{V}^{\dagger} \operatorname{diag}(y_u^2, y_c^2, y_t^2) \mathbf{V} + \operatorname{diag}(y_d^2, y_s^2, y_b^2), \\
 \tag{4.6}$$

where $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{U}_u^{\dagger} \mathbf{U}_d$ is the CKM matrix. In practice, it is an excellent approximation to neglect all eigenvalues of the Yukawa matrices except for the top-quark Yukawa $y_t \approx 1$.

One then obtains in the mass basis

$$\gamma^{\phi} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{4\pi} - \frac{3\alpha_{2}}{4\pi} + \frac{3y_{t}^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} + \dots,$$

$$\gamma^{u_{L}} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{144\pi} - \frac{9\alpha_{2}}{16\pi} - \frac{\alpha_{3}}{\pi} + \frac{y_{t}^{2}}{32\pi^{2}} \operatorname{diag}(0, 0, 1) + \dots,$$

$$\gamma^{d_{L}} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{144\pi} - \frac{9\alpha_{2}}{16\pi} - \frac{\alpha_{3}}{\pi} + \frac{y_{t}^{2}}{32\pi^{2}} \left(V_{.3}^{\dagger}V_{3.}\right) + \dots,$$

$$\gamma^{u_{R}} = -\frac{\alpha_{1}}{9\pi} - \frac{\alpha_{3}}{\pi} + \frac{y_{t}^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \operatorname{diag}(0, 0, 1) + \dots,$$

(4.7)

whereas the Yukawa contributions to γ^{L_L} , γ^{d_R} and γ^{e_R} can be dropped. In the third relation $(V_{.3}^{\dagger}V_{3.})$ denotes the matrix with elements $(V_{.3}^{\dagger}V_{3.})_{ij} \equiv V_{ti}^*V_{tj}$.

പ

We do not present here a detailed discussion of the anomalous dimensions of the $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$ operators defined in (2.37), which is complicated by the fact that these operators contain a zero-momentum Higgs field. Focussing on QCD evolution only, we find that the Wilson coefficients $\mathbf{C}_{q_Lq_R}$ of the subleading fermionic operators containing quark fields obey an evolution equation analogous to (4.1) with the anomalous dimension [23, 24]

$$\Gamma_{q_L q_R}(\mu) = \frac{4}{3} \gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)} \left(\ln \frac{m_{Z'}^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi \right) - \frac{2\alpha_3}{\pi} \,, \tag{4.8}$$

which is identical to the QCD part of the anomalous dimensions $\Gamma_{Q_L Q_L}$ and $\Gamma_{q_R q_R}$ in (4.2).

In order to illustrate the typical size of resummation effects, we solve the RG evolution equations numerically for two representative examples: the decays $Z' \rightarrow t\bar{t}$ and $Z' \rightarrow W^+W^-$, both evaluated at leading order in the expansion in powers of λ and for a mass $m_{Z'} = 3$ TeV of the new Z' boson. A consistent solution at leading order in RG-improved perturbation theory requires that one uses the two-loop expressions for the cusp anomalous dimensions in (4.4) and for the β -functions of the SM gauge couplings [28], while the oneloop expressions are sufficient for all other anomalous dimensions and for the β -function of the top-quark Yukawa coupling. The latter one is given by [29]

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} y_t = \frac{9y_t^3}{32\pi^2} - y_t \left(\frac{17\alpha_1}{48\pi} + \frac{9\alpha_2}{16\pi} + \frac{2\alpha_3}{\pi}\right).$$
(4.9)

For the case of $Z' \to t\bar{t}$ the relevant Wilson coefficients are $C^{33}_{u_L u_L}(m_{Z'}, \mu_t)$ and $C^{33}_{u_R u_R}(m_{Z'}, \mu_t)$, where $\mu_t \approx m_t$ is a characteristic low-energy scale of the decay process. From (4.7) it follows that both coefficients obey a diagonal RG equation (in the approximation where we neglect all Yukawa couplings other than y_t). We define

$$C_X(m_{Z'},\mu_l) = C_X(m_{Z'},\mu_h) U_X(\mu_h,\mu_l)$$
(4.10)

for any Wilson coefficient at a low scale μ_l , where the evolution factor $U_X(\mu_h, \mu_l)$ encodes the scale evolution from the new-physics scale $\mu_h \sim m_{Z'}$ down to a characteristic low-energy scale μ_l . From a numerical solution of the RG equations we find

$$U_{u_L u_L}^{33}(m_{Z'}, m_t) \approx 0.78 \, e^{0.45i} \,, \qquad U_{u_R u_R}^{33}(m_{Z'}, m_t) \approx 0.79 \, e^{0.39i} \,.$$
 (4.11)



Figure 1. Resummation effects for the Wilson coefficient $|C_{u_L u_L}^{33}|^2$ using different approximations: the red curves show the effects obtained from solving the RG equations with all terms included, while the gray curves are obtained by keeping the cusp terms only. In both cases the solid curves include electroweak evolution effects and the contributions involving the top-quark Yukawa coupling, whereas the dotted curves correspond to QCD evolution only.

Depending on which Wilson coefficient dominates, the $Z' \to t\bar{t}$ decay rate drops by a factor of $|U_{q_Lq_L}^{33}|^2 \approx 0.61$ or $|U_{u_Ru_R}^{33}|^2 \approx 0.63$, which is a sizable correction, largely driven by QCD.

It is interesting to compare these results to the ones obtained from parton showers. We simulate the effect of a typical QCD parton shower by including only the terms proportional to $\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}$ in the anomalous dimensions of the Wilson coefficients. In this approximation the evolution factors turn out to be

$$U_{u_L u_L}^{33}(m_{Z'}, m_t)\big|_{\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}} = U_{u_R u_R}^{33}(m_{Z'}, m_t)\big|_{\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}} \approx 0.70 \, e^{0.36 \, i} \,, \tag{4.12}$$

and the rate thus drops by a factor of approximately 0.49. The difference can be attributed to the effects of subleading (single) logarithms as well electroweak evolution effects, where the two contributions partially compensate each other, as we demonstrate in figure 1. There we show the complete RG evolution effects (red curves) and compare them to the solution where only the cusp terms in the anomalous dimensions are kept (gray curves). We see that including the subleading logarithms attenuates the running while including electroweak effects amplifies it. It should also be noted that the difference between the curves are more or less constant, making the relative difference between the effects more pronounced with growing scale separation.

While in the previous example QCD evolution effects are the dominant ones, there are other observables for which the evolution driven by electroweak and Yukawa interactions can be similarly important. The $Z' \to W^+W^-$ decay rate is, at leading power in λ , determined by the Wilson coefficient $C_{\phi\phi}(m_{Z'}, \mu)$. Evolving this coefficient from the newphysics scale down to $\mu_l = m_W$, we obtain

$$U_{\phi\phi}(m_{Z'}, m_W) \approx 0.85 \, e^{0.10i}$$
 (4.13)

The resummation effects reduce the decay rate by a factor of $|U_{\phi\phi}|^2 \approx 0.72$. This effect is sizable, even without QCD evolution, because of the large top-quark Yukawa coupling contributing to the anomalous dimension $\Gamma_{\phi\phi}$ entering through the quantity γ^{ϕ} in (4.2).

5 Extension to non-singlet resonances

The theoretical framework described in the previous sections can be straightforwardly extended to the case of heavy vector resonances charged under the SM gauge group. We now briefly outline the modifications in the construction of the effective $SCET_{BSM}$ Lagrangian for the example of a Kaluza-Klein gluon arising in extra-dimensional extensions of the SM, i.e., for a heavy color-octet vector resonance G'.

5.1 Operator basis

As before the leading-order operators arise at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$. They are constructed in analogy to the treatment discussed in section 2.3. Color conservation requires that couplings to fermions exist only in the quark sector. The relevant operators are of the form

$$O_{\psi\psi}^{ij} = G_{\nu\mu}^{\prime a} (\bar{\Psi}_{n}^{i} \gamma_{\perp}^{\mu} t^{a} \Psi_{\bar{n}}^{j} + \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^{i} \gamma_{\perp}^{\mu} t^{a} \Psi_{n}^{j}), \qquad (5.1)$$

where t^a are the generators of $SU(3)_c$, and the fermion fields can be left-handed or righthanded quark fields. There is no operator analogous to $O_{\phi\phi}$ in (2.32), because the Higgs field does not carry a color index. On the other hand, it is possible to construct nonvanishing operators of the form (2.35), in which the heavy color-octet resonance couples to a pair of gauge bosons. They are (with $b \equiv 1$)

$$\tilde{O}_{GB}^{\parallel} = im_{G'} \Pi \cdot G_v^{\prime a} g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \left(\mathfrak{g}_n^{\perp\mu,a} \mathcal{B}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,b} - \mathfrak{g}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\mu,a} \mathcal{B}_n^{\perp\nu,b} \right),
\tilde{O}_{GB}^{\perp} = im_{G'} \Pi \cdot G_v^{\prime a} \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \left(\mathfrak{g}_n^{\perp\mu,a} \mathcal{B}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,b} + \mathfrak{g}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\mu,a} \mathcal{B}_n^{\perp\nu,b} \right),$$
(5.2)

where the effective fields \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{B} represent a gluon and a hypercharge gauge boson, respectively. Because these fields refer to different particles, it is possible to construct boson bilinears that are odd under the exchange of n and \bar{n} , as required by the symmetry properties of Π^{μ} in (2.31). Note that these hermitian operators mediate CP-odd interactions, as indicated by the tilde symbol. This exhausts all options at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$. The most general effective Lagrangian at this order is therefore (a sum over repeated indices in implied)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{(2)} = \sum_{\psi} C_{\psi\psi}^{ij}(m_{G'},\mu) \, O_{\psi\psi}^{ij}(\mu) + \sum_{\sigma=\parallel,\perp} \tilde{C}_{GB}^{\sigma}(m_{G'},\mu) \, \tilde{O}_{GB}^{\sigma}(\mu) \,, \tag{5.3}$$

where the sum in the first term runs over all quark multiplets of the SM, and the Wilson coefficients $C_{\psi\psi}^{ij}$ form the entries of 3×3 hermitian matrices. The coefficients C_{GB}^{σ} , on the other hand, are real quantities. This effective Lagrangian mediates the two-jet decays

 $G' \to q\bar{q}, G' \to g\gamma$ and $G' \to gZ$, where the Z boson carries transverse polarization. The latter two transitions are CP odd and can be used to probe for CP-violating interactions in the UV completion of the SM.

At subleading order in power counting there exists again a long list of possible operators, but at lowest order in perturbation theory we only need those constructed in analogy with those shown in (2.37). We find that the relevant operators are

$$\begin{aligned}
O_{Q_{L}q_{R}}^{ij} &= \frac{\Pi \cdot G'^{a}}{m_{G'}} \left(\bar{Q}_{L,n}^{i} \Phi_{0} t^{a} q_{R,\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{Q}_{L,\bar{n}}^{i} \Phi_{0} t^{a} q_{R,n}^{j} \right), \\
O_{G\phi}^{\parallel} &= g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} G_{v}^{\prime\mu,a} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \Phi_{0} \mathcal{G}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,a} + \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \Phi_{0} \mathcal{G}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a} \right), \\
O_{G\phi}^{\perp} &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} G_{v}^{\prime\mu,a} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \Phi_{0} \mathcal{G}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,a} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \Phi_{0} \mathcal{G}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a} \right).
\end{aligned}$$
(5.4)

We write the effective Lagrangian at order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$ as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{(3)} = \sum_{q=u,d} C_{Q_L q_R}^{ij}(m_{G'},\mu) O_{Q_L q_R}^{ij}(\mu) + \sum_{\sigma=\parallel,\perp} C_{G\phi}^{\sigma}(m_{G'},\mu) O_{G\phi}^{\sigma}(\mu) + \text{h.c.} + \dots, \quad (5.5)$$

where the dots refer to the many other operators, which do not contribute at tree level to the amplitudes we consider. For the case where $q_R = u_R$ the replacement $\Phi \to \tilde{\Phi}$ must be made to ensure gauge invariance. The Wilson coefficients in this Lagrangian are arbitrary complex quantities. The latter two operators mediate the two-jet decays $G' \to gh$ and $G' \to gZ$ with a longitudinally polarized Z boson.

5.2 Decay amplitudes and rates

In analogy with the discussion in section 3, we now briefly discuss the relevant two-body decay amplitudes and the corresponding decay rates. The amplitudes for the decays $G' \rightarrow q^i \bar{q}^j$ have the same form as shown in (3.5), but with a color generator t^a inserted between the two spinors. The decay rates into quark pairs with various chiralities are thus given by the expressions in (3.6) with $m_{Z'}$ replaced by $m_{G'}$ and the color factor N_c^f replaced by $T_F = \frac{1}{2}$. At leading order in power counting the resonance G' decays into quarks with equal chiralities.

The decay $G' \to hg$ arises first at subleading order in power counting. The decay amplitude can be parameterized in the same way as the $Z' \to h\gamma$ decay amplitude in (3.7). For the form factors we obtain

$$F_T^{\sigma hg} = \frac{g_s v}{m_{G'}} \Re e \, C_{G\phi}^{\sigma} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^3}{m_{Z'}^3}\right); \quad \sigma = \parallel, \perp \,. \tag{5.6}$$

The corresponding decay rate is given by an expression analogous to the second relation in (3.10), but with $m_{Z'}$ replaced by $m_{G'}$.

The decays of the resonance G' into two gauge bosons are particularly interesting, because contrary to the decay $Z' \to Z\gamma$ the modes $G' \to g\gamma$ and $G' \to gZ$ can be mediated by operators arising at leading order in power counting. Instead of (3.11), we parameterize the corresponding decay amplitudes in the form (with $V = \gamma, Z$)

$$\mathcal{M}(G' \to gV) = m_{G'} \left[\Pi \cdot \varepsilon_{G'} \, \varepsilon_g^{*\mu} \, \varepsilon_V^{*\nu} \left(g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{TT}^{\parallel gV} + \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{TT}^{\perp gV} \right) \\ + m_V \, \frac{n \cdot \varepsilon_V^*}{n \cdot p_V} \, \varepsilon_{G'}^{\mu} \, \varepsilon_g^{*\nu} \left(g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{TL}^{\parallel gV} - \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \, F_{TL}^{\perp gV} \right) \right],$$
(5.7)

where the terms in the second line exist only if V is a Z boson. For the form factors we find the expressions

$$F_{TT}^{\sigma g \gamma} = i g_s e C_{GB}^{\sigma}, \qquad F_{TT}^{\sigma g Z} = -i \frac{s_w}{c_w} g_s e C_{GB}^{\sigma}, \qquad (5.8)$$

and

$$F_{TL}^{\sigma g Z} = -i \frac{g_s v}{m_{G'}} \Im m C_{G\phi}^{\sigma}, \qquad F_{TL}^{\sigma g \gamma} = 0.$$
(5.9)

The fact that these form factors are purely imaginary indicates the fact that the corresponding decay amplitudes are CP odd. For the decay rates we obtain

$$\Gamma(G' \to g\gamma) = \frac{m_{G'}}{24\pi} \left[\left| F_{TT}^{\parallel g\gamma} \right|^2 + \left| F_{TT}^{\perp g\gamma} \right|^2 \right],$$

$$\Gamma(G' \to gZ) = \frac{m_{G'}}{24\pi} \left(1 - \frac{m_Z^2}{m_{G'}^2} \right) \left[\left| F_{TT}^{\parallel gZ} \right|^2 + \left| F_{TT}^{\perp gZ} \right|^2 + \left| F_{TL}^{\parallel gZ} \right|^2 + \left| F_{TL}^{\perp gZ} \right|^2 \right].$$
(5.10)

5.3 Resummation of large logarithms

RG resummation effects are more interesting in the case where the decaying heavy resonance is charged under the SM gauge group. We now discuss this for the case of the operators appearing at leading order in power counting. Their anomalous dimensions can be derived from a two-loop master formula for the anomalous dimensions of scattering amplitudes containing both massless and massive partons derived in refs. [30–33]. We find that

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{Q_L Q_L}(\mu) = \left(\frac{1}{36}\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(1)} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(2)} - \frac{1}{6}\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}\right) \left(\ln\frac{m_G^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi\right) + \frac{3}{2}\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}\ln\frac{m_G^2}{\mu^2} + \gamma^{G'} + \{\gamma^{Q_L}, .\},$$

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{q_R q_R}(\mu) = \left(e_q^2\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(1)} - \frac{1}{6}\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}\right) \left(\ln\frac{m_G^2}{\mu^2} - i\pi\right) + \frac{3}{2}\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}\ln\frac{m_G^2}{\mu^2} + \gamma^{G'} + \{\gamma^{q_R}, .\}; \quad q = u, d,$$

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{GB}(\mu) = \frac{3}{2}\gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{(3)}\ln\frac{m_G^2}{\mu^2} + \gamma^{G'} + \gamma^G + \gamma^B.$$
(5.11)

The cusp terms without imaginary parts arise from soft gluon exchanges between the initialstate heavy resonance and one of the final-state particles. The single-particle anomalous dimensions of the gauge fields vanish at one-loop order [23, 24], while the one-loop anomalous dimension of the heavy color-octet vector field is given by [30]

$$\gamma^{G'} = -\frac{3\alpha_3}{2\pi} + \dots$$
 (5.12)

Given these expressions, the resummation of large double and single logarithms can be accomplished in the same way as discussed in section 4.

6 Matching calculations for a UV completion of the SM

In this section we illustrate our approach in the context of a concrete new-physics scenario, which has been proposed to address some of the *B*-meson anomalies observed in the transitions $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$ [12]. The setup we consider is an extension of the SM with a gauged $L_{\mu} - L_{\tau}$ lepton number, denoted by U(1)'. The new symmetry is broken spontaneously by the VEV $\langle S \rangle \equiv u/\sqrt{2}$ of a complex scalar field *S*, which is charged under the U(1)'with $Q'_S = 1$ and transforms as a singlet under the SM gauge group. The associated gauge boson *Z'* acquires a mass $m_{Z'} = g_{Z'}u$, where $g_{Z'}$ is the gauge coupling of the U(1)' and we assume that $u \gg v$. The muon and tau lepton carry charges +1 and -1 under the U(1)', whereas the remaining SM fermions are uncharged.

The model is supplemented by a single generation of vector-like quark (VLQ) partners \mathbb{Q} , \mathbb{U} and \mathbb{D} , which transform like Q_L , u_R and d_R under the SM gauge group, but in addition are charged under the new U(1)', i.e.

$$\mathbb{Q} \sim (3,2)_{\frac{1}{6},1}, \qquad \mathbb{U} \sim (3,1)_{\frac{2}{3},-1}, \qquad \mathbb{D} \sim (3,1)_{-\frac{1}{3},-1}.$$
 (6.1)

Being vector-like, these fermions are allowed to have masses without a Higgs-like mechanism,

$$\mathcal{L}_m = -m_Q \bar{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q} - m_D \bar{\mathbb{D}} \mathbb{D} - m_U \bar{\mathbb{U}} \mathbb{U} \,. \tag{6.2}$$

The scale of the VLQ mass terms m_X (with X = Q, U, D) is not necessarily connected to the mass scale of the Z' boson. Below, we consider the two cases where $m_X \sim u$ or $m_X \gg u$ in detail.

The chosen charges of the VLQs allow for the following Yukawa-type interactions with the SM quarks and the new scalar S:

$$\mathcal{L}_Y = -\bar{\mathbb{Q}} \, \boldsymbol{Y}_Q^{\dagger} \, S \, Q_L - \bar{\mathbb{U}} \, \boldsymbol{Y}_U^{\dagger} \, S^{\dagger} u_R - \bar{\mathbb{D}} \, \boldsymbol{Y}_D^{\dagger} \, S^{\dagger} d_R + \text{h.c.} \,. \tag{6.3}$$

Note that the new Yukawa couplings Y_X^{\dagger} are 1×3 matrices in generation space, because we consider a single generation of VLQs. Upon the spontaneous breaking of the U(1)'symmetry these interactions generate a mass mixing between the heavy VLQs and the massless SM fields, which results in induced couplings of the heavy Z' boson to the SM quarks, with a non-trivial flavor structure. Flavor-conserving couplings of the Z' boson to the SM fermions can also be generated through a kinetic mixing between the Z' and the hypercharge gauge boson, as described by the operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm mix} = -\frac{\xi}{2} Z'_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{6.4}$$

It is often assumed that the mixing parameter ξ is one-loop suppressed. Finally, we note that a Higgs-portal interaction of the form $S^{\dagger}S \phi^{\dagger}\phi$ would not give any contributions to the matching conditions considered below and hence we do not need to discuss it in detail.

In this section we perform the matching of this renormalizable, anomaly-free extension of the SM [12] onto the effective theory SCET_{BSM}. Assuming that the Z' boson will be

the first new particle beyond the SM that is discovered experimentally, our setup provides a consistent framework for describing the two-body decays of the Z' into SM particles in a model-independent and systematic way. We describe the matching procedure in detail for the Wilson coefficients $C_{\phi\phi}$ and $C_{\psi\psi}^{ij}$ appearing at leading order in the effective Lagrangian (2.36). The fermionic operators are generated at tree level, while $O_{\phi\phi}$ occurs first at one-loop order (or via the kinetic mixing term). We first consider the case where the masses of the VLQs are of similar order as the mass of the Z' boson. In section 6.3 we will then discuss the case of a double hierarchy $m_X \gg m_{Z'} \gg v$.

6.1 Matching coefficients of the leading fermionic operators

The tree-level matching contributions to the Wilson coefficients $C_{L_L L_L}^{ij}$ and $C_{e_R e_R}^{ij}$ describing the Z' couplings to leptons are diagonal in the generation indices *i* and *j*. By construction, the Z' boson couples with different signs to the leptons of the second and third generation. In addition, the kinetic mixing in (6.4) gives a contribution proportional to the hypercharge of the various fermions. In matrix notation, we find

$$C_{L_L L_L} = g_{Z'} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} + \frac{\xi g'}{2} \mathbf{1},$$

$$C_{e_R e_R} = g_{Z'} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} + \xi g' \mathbf{1}.$$
(6.5)

Note that by virtue of $SU(2)_L$ invariance the operator O_{LL}^{ij} also describes Z'-boson couplings to the neutrinos ν_{μ} and ν_{τ} .

The corresponding couplings to the SM quarks have a more interesting flavor structure. To find them, we first need to diagonalize the quark mass terms in the Lagrangian. This is discussed in detail in appendix B. Using the results derived there, it is straightforward to evaluate the matching conditions for the Wilson coefficients of the operators coupling the Z' boson to a pair of SM quarks. We find

$$C_{Q_LQ_L} = g_{Z'} \frac{u^2}{2M_Q^2} \mathbf{Y}_Q \mathbf{Y}_Q^{\dagger} - \frac{\xi g'}{6} \mathbf{1},$$

$$C_{u_R u_R} = -g_{Z'} \frac{u^2}{2M_U^2} \mathbf{Y}_U \mathbf{Y}_U^{\dagger} - \frac{2\xi g'}{3} \mathbf{1},$$

$$C_{d_R d_R} = -g_{Z'} \frac{u^2}{2M_D^2} \mathbf{Y}_D \mathbf{Y}_D^{\dagger} + \frac{\xi g'}{3} \mathbf{1}.$$
(6.6)

The matching coefficients in (6.5) and (6.6) are obtained at a factorization scale $\mu \sim M_X \sim m_{Z'}$. They can be evolved down to lower scales using the RG evolution equations derived in section 4.

6.2 Matching coefficient of the leading bosonic operator

Except for a contribution from the kinetic-mixing Lagrangian in (6.4), the bosonic operator $O_{\phi\phi}$ is generated first at the one-loop-level in the model we consider. To perform the



Figure 2. Representative Feynman diagrams contributing to the matching calculation for the operator $O_{\phi\phi}$. The cross in the first graph denotes an insertion of the kinetic-mixing interaction (6.4).

matching calculation for the coefficient $C_{\phi\phi}$, we compute the amplitude $Z' \to \phi\phi^*$ in the unbroken phase of the SM. There exist three types of contributions, depicted in figure 2. We assume the kinetic-mixing parameter ξ to be small, such that the first diagram is of the same order as the remaining one-loop graphs.

In order to avoid unnecessarily complicated expressions, we make the following simplifying assumptions about the model parameters: without loss of generality we work in a basis where the up-quark Yukawa matrix y_u is diagonal. In this basis, we assume that the new Yukawa interactions coupling the VLQs to the SM quarks in (6.3) only affect the third generation, and that the new Yukawa couplings are identical and real, i.e.

$$\mathbf{Y}_Q^{\dagger} = \mathbf{Y}_U^{\dagger} = \mathbf{Y}_D^{\dagger} \equiv (0, 0, Y_X) \,. \tag{6.7}$$

Also, we set the mass parameters m_X of the VLQs equal to each other, so that the physical masses of the VLQs are identical and given by

$$M_X \equiv M_Q = M_U = M_D = \sqrt{m_X^2 + \frac{u^2}{2}Y_X^2} \,. \tag{6.8}$$

Finally, we neglect all SM Yukawa couplings with the exception of $(\mathbf{y}_u)_{33} = y_t$. Under these assumptions, the one-loop matching calculation can be straightforwardly performed, yielding

$$C_{\phi\phi} = -\frac{\xi g'}{2} + g_{Z'} \frac{3y_t^2}{8\pi^2} \frac{u^2 Y_X^2}{m_{Z'}^2} F\left(\frac{m_{Z'}^2}{M_X^2}, \frac{u^2 Y_X^2}{2M_X^2}\right), \qquad (6.9)$$

where

$$F(x,y) = (1-y) \left[1 - \frac{2(2-xy)}{x} \arcsin^2 \frac{\sqrt{x}}{2} + (x+2y) \sqrt{\frac{4}{x} - 1} \arcsin \frac{\sqrt{x}}{2} - \frac{y(1+x)}{x} \operatorname{Li}_2(-x) - \frac{y(1+2x)}{x} \operatorname{Li}_2(x) + \frac{(x+2y)(1-x)}{x} \ln(1-x) + \left(\frac{x}{2} + y - \frac{y(1+x)}{x} \ln(1+x)\right) (\ln x - i\pi) \right] + 2\sqrt{\frac{4}{x} - 1} \arcsin \frac{\sqrt{x}}{2} - 2.$$
(6.10)

This expression exhibits branch cuts starting at x = 1 (corresponding to $m_{Z'} = M_X$) and x = 4 (corresponding to $m_{Z'} = 2M_X$), and the prescription $x \equiv x + i0$ ensures that it is evaluated at the right side of these cuts. In (6.9), the first term accounts for the kinetic-mixing contribution. Note that the amplitude from the second diagram in figure 2 vanishes under our assumptions due to the fact that the VLQs have degenerate masses and due to their specific charge assignments under the U(1)' symmetry. In the third term, the coupling $g_{Z'}$ comes from the Z' coupling to fermions, the top-quark Yukawa couplings arise from the two Higgs vertices, and the factor $u^2 Y_X^2$ arises from the mixing of the VLQs with the SM fermions.

Our result for the matching coefficient $C_{\phi\phi}$ is obtained at a high factorization scale $\mu \sim M_X$ and can be evolved down to lower scales using the RG evolution equations derived in section 4. We emphasize the crucial fact that in SCET_{BSM} the matching coefficients depend on both, the mass $m_{Z'}$ of the heavy particle for whose decays the effective theory has been constructed, and the mass parameters of other heavy particles that are integrated out (the masses of the VLQs represented by M_X , and the VEV u setting the mass of the scalar field S).

6.3 Matching and running in the double-hierarchy scenario

It is interesting to study the case in which the mass scale M_X of the VLQs is much higher than $u \sim m_{Z'}$. It can be seen from (6.9) that the matching coefficients depend on two hierarchical scales in this case. Indeed, an expansion in the ratio $m_{Z'}^2/M_X^2 \ll 1$ yields

$$C_{\phi\phi} = -\frac{\xi g'}{2} - g_{Z'} \frac{3y_t^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{u^2 Y_X^2}{M_X^2} \left(\ln \frac{M_X^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{u^4}{M_X^4}\right).$$
(6.11)

In order to obtain reliable predictions in perturbation theory, we should then perform two matching steps. At the scale $\mu \sim M_X$ we integrate out the VLQs and match the full theory onto an intermediate (local) EFT, comprised of the SM degrees of freedom as well as the Z' boson and the scalar S. At the lower scale $\mu \sim m_{Z'}$ this EFT is then matched onto the SCET_{BSM}. The RG evolution of the intermediate EFT between the scales M_X and $m_{Z'}$ allows us to resum the large logarithms $\ln(M_X^2/m_{Z'}^2)$ to all orders in perturbation theory.

We begin by defining a basis of dimension-6 operators for the intermediate EFT, including only the operators relevant to our discussion. The corresponding effective Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} = \left(S^{\dagger} i\overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu}S\right) \left[C_{Q}^{ij} \bar{Q}_{L}^{i} \gamma^{\mu} Q_{L}^{j} + C_{u}^{ij} \bar{u}_{R}^{i} \gamma^{\mu} u_{R}^{j} + C_{d}^{ij} \bar{d}_{R}^{i} \gamma^{\mu} d_{R}^{j} + C_{\phi}(\phi^{\dagger} i\overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu}\phi)\right] - C_{B} S^{\dagger}S Z_{\mu\nu}^{\prime} B^{\mu\nu} + \dots,$$
(6.12)

where the dots refer to operators that are irrelevant to our discussion. The Wilson coefficients C_Q^{ij} , C_u^{ij} and C_d^{ij} form the entries of 3×3 hermitian matrices in generation space, while the coefficient C_B is real. In addition to these operators there is still the kinetic-mixing Lagrangian shown in (6.4), but now with ξ replaced by an effective value

$$\xi_{\text{eff}} = \xi - \frac{g_{Z'}g'}{12\pi^2} \ln \frac{m_Q^2 m_D^2}{m_U^4} \,. \tag{6.13}$$

The matching contribution arising when one integrates out the VLQs is UV finite due to the chosen U(1)' charges. Our result differs by a factor (-6) from the corresponding expression given in ref. [12].



Figure 3. Representative Feynman diagrams contributing to the one-loop matching conditions for the Wilson coefficients C_{ϕ} (left) and C_B (right).

The first three operators in the first line of (6.12) follow from integrating out the VLQs at tree level, which yields the coefficients (in matrix notation) [12]

$$\boldsymbol{C}_{Q} = \frac{\boldsymbol{Y}_{Q}\boldsymbol{Y}_{Q}^{\dagger}}{2m_{Q}^{2}}, \qquad \boldsymbol{C}_{u} = -\frac{\boldsymbol{Y}_{U}\boldsymbol{Y}_{U}^{\dagger}}{2m_{U}^{2}}, \qquad \boldsymbol{C}_{d} = -\frac{\boldsymbol{Y}_{D}\boldsymbol{Y}_{D}^{\dagger}}{2m_{D}^{2}}.$$
(6.14)

The remaining operators arise first at one-loop order. Two representative Feynman graphs are depicted in figure 3. For the coefficient C_{ϕ} we obtain

$$C_{\phi} = \frac{3}{16\pi^2} \left[\frac{\mathbf{Y}_Q^{\dagger}(\mathbf{y}_u \, \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} - \mathbf{y}_d \, \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger}) \mathbf{Y}_Q}{2m_Q^2} \left(\ln \frac{\mu^2}{m_Q^2} + \frac{3}{2} \right) + \frac{\mathbf{Y}_U^{\dagger} \, \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} \, \mathbf{y}_u \, \mathbf{Y}_U}{2m_U^2} \left(\ln \frac{\mu^2}{m_U^2} + \frac{3}{2} \right) - \frac{\mathbf{Y}_D^{\dagger} \, \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} \, \mathbf{y}_d \, \mathbf{Y}_D}{2m_D^2} \left(\ln \frac{\mu^2}{m_D^2} + \frac{3}{2} \right) \right].$$
(6.15)

The IR divergences of the relevant matching diagrams give rise to the logarithmic dependence on the factorization scale μ (after operator renormalization in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme). Next we focus on the operator multiplying the Wilson coefficient C_B in (6.12), which is similar to the kinetic-mixing operator in (6.4). Indeed, when the scalar field S acquires a VEV, this term gives rise to a power correction of order u^2/m_X^2 to the kinetic-mixing parameter ξ . Evaluating the relevant one-loop diagrams containing both VLQs and SM quarks in the loop, we find

$$C_B = \frac{g_{Z'}g'}{48\pi^2} \left[2\frac{\mathbf{Y}_U^{\dagger}\mathbf{Y}_U}{m_U^2} \left(\ln\frac{\mu^2}{m_U^2} + 2 \right) - \frac{\mathbf{Y}_D^{\dagger}\mathbf{Y}_D}{m_D^2} \left(\ln\frac{\mu^2}{m_D^2} + 2 \right) - \frac{\mathbf{Y}_Q^{\dagger}\mathbf{Y}_Q}{m_Q^2} \left(\ln\frac{\mu^2}{m_Q^2} + 2 \right) \right]. \quad (6.16)$$

Note that in the simplified scenario considered in section 6.2 both C_B and the matching contribution to ξ_{eff} in (6.13) vanish due to the fact that $m_Q = m_U = m_D$ and $\mathbf{Y}_Q = \mathbf{Y}_U = \mathbf{Y}_D$.

At the scale $\mu \sim m_{Z'}$ the intermediate EFT is matched onto SCET_{BSM}. For the fermionic operators this matching is trivial at lowest order, since all we need to do is replace the scalar field S in (6.12) by its VEV and replace the various SM fields by their



Figure 4. Feynman diagrams contributing to the matching condition for the Wilson coefficient $C_{\phi\phi}$ in the double-hierarchy scenario. The crossed circles denote operator insertions of O_Q^{ij} , O_u^{ij} , O_d^{ij} , O_{ϕ} and O_B , corresponding to the dimension-6 operators shown in (6.12). Dashed lines ending in crosses represent insertions of $\langle S \rangle$.

SCET counterparts. Including also the contributions from kinetic mixing, we find

$$C_{Q_LQ_L} = u^2 g_{Z'} C_Q - (\xi_{\text{eff}} + u^2 C_B) \frac{g'}{6} \mathbf{1},$$

$$C_{u_R u_R} = u^2 g_{Z'} C_u - (\xi_{\text{eff}} + u^2 C_B) \frac{2g'}{3} \mathbf{1},$$

$$C_{d_R d_R} = u^2 g_{Z'} C_d + (\xi_{\text{eff}} + u^2 C_B) \frac{g'}{3} \mathbf{1}.$$
(6.17)

The results are consistent with those shown in (6.6). The difference between m_X^2 and M_X^2 in the first terms amounts to power corrections of order u^2/m_X^2 , which are neglected in the intermediate EFT. The higher-order contributions to the kinetic-mixing parameter ξ arise from loop effects, which have been neglected in (6.6).

The matching condition for the Wilson coefficient of the bosonic operator $O_{\phi\phi}$, whose explicit form has been shown in (6.11), is more interesting. The diagrams contributing to this calculation are shown in figure 4. Contrary to the computation in section 6.2, the result in the two-step matching procedure can easily be obtained without simplifying the flavor structure of the model. We find

$$C_{\phi\phi} = -\frac{g'}{2} \left(\xi_{\text{eff}} + u^2 C_B \right) - \frac{g_{Z'} g'^2 u^2}{48\pi^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(2C_u - C_d + C_Q \right) \left(\ln \frac{\mu^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi + \frac{5}{3} \right)$$
(6.18)

$$+g_{Z'}u^{2}\left\{C_{\phi}+\frac{3}{16\pi^{2}}\operatorname{Tr}\left[\boldsymbol{y}_{u}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{y}_{u}\boldsymbol{C}_{u}-\boldsymbol{y}_{d}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{y}_{d}\boldsymbol{C}_{d}-(\boldsymbol{y}_{u}\boldsymbol{y}_{u}^{\dagger}-\boldsymbol{y}_{d}\boldsymbol{y}_{d}^{\dagger})\boldsymbol{C}_{Q}\right]\left(\ln\frac{\mu^{2}}{m_{Z'}^{2}}+i\pi+2\right)\right\},$$

where for simplicity we have included only the lowest-order contribution for each operator in the intermediate EFT. Note that the explicit scale dependence on the right-hand side of this equation cancels out when one inserts the one-loop expressions for the various Wilson

$$C_{\phi\phi} = -\frac{g'}{2} \xi_{\text{eff}} + \frac{g_{Z'} g'^2 u^2}{48\pi^2} \left[\frac{\mathbf{Y}_U^{\dagger} \mathbf{Y}_U}{m_U^2} \left(\ln \frac{m_U^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi - \frac{1}{3} \right) - \frac{\mathbf{Y}_D^{\dagger} \mathbf{Y}_D}{2m_D^2} \left(\ln \frac{m_D^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi - \frac{1}{3} \right) \right] \\ - \frac{\mathbf{Y}_Q^{\dagger} \mathbf{Y}_Q}{2m_Q^2} \left(\ln \frac{m_Q^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi - \frac{1}{3} \right) \right] \\ - g_{Z'} \frac{3u^2}{16\pi^2} \left[\frac{\mathbf{Y}_U^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_u \mathbf{Y}_U}{2m_U^2} \left(\ln \frac{m_U^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \frac{\mathbf{Y}_D^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_d \mathbf{Y}_D}{2m_D^2} \left(\ln \frac{m_D^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi + \frac{1}{2} \right) \right] \\ + \frac{\mathbf{Y}_Q^{\dagger} (\mathbf{y}_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} - \mathbf{y}_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger}) \mathbf{Y}_Q}{2m_Q^2} \left(\ln \frac{m_Q^2}{m_{Z'}^2} + i\pi + \frac{1}{2} \right) \right].$$
(6.19)

In the approximation adopted in section 6.2, where we have set $m_Q = m_U = m_D \equiv m_X$, $\mathbf{Y}_Q = \mathbf{Y}_U = \mathbf{Y}_D \equiv (0, 0, Y_X)^T$ and neglected all SM Yukawa couplings other than $(\mathbf{y}_u)_{33} = y_t$, the above result reduces to the one shown in (6.11).

The two-scale matching procedure described here allows us to improve the above expression by resumming the large logarithms $\ln(m_X^2/m_{Z'}^2)$, where X = Q, u, d, to all orders in perturbation theory. To this end, we evaluate the Wilson coefficients in the intermediate EFT, given at lowest order in (6.14)–(6.16), at a scale $\mu_X \sim m_X$, where they are free of large logarithms. Here $m_X \sim m_Q \sim m_U \sim m_D$ is the characteristic mass scale of the heavy VLQs. We then evolve these coefficients to a scale $\mu_{Z'} \sim m_{Z'}$ by solving their RG evolution equations. Finally, we insert the evolved coefficients $C_{B,\phi}(\mu_{Z'})$ and $C_{Q,u,d}(\mu_{Z'})$ into relation (6.18), which for $\mu \sim m_{Z'}$ is also free of large logarithms. We have calculated the one-loop anomalous dimensions governing the scale evolution of the Wilson coefficients in the effective Lagrangian of the intermediate EFT. For the coefficients of the operators shown in the first line of (6.12) diagrams such as those in figure 5 need to be computed. We find that only Yukawa interactions contribute at one-loop order, and that in matrix notation the resulting evolution equations take the form

$$\frac{d}{d\ln\mu} C_Q(\mu) = \frac{1}{32\pi^2} \left\{ \mathbf{y}_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} + \mathbf{y}_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger}, C_Q \right\} - \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\mathbf{y}_u C_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} + \mathbf{y}_d C_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} \right)
+ \frac{C_{\phi}}{16\pi^2} \left(\mathbf{y}_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} - \mathbf{y}_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} \right),
\frac{d}{d\ln\mu} C_u(\mu) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_u, C_u \right\} - \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} C_Q \mathbf{y}_u - \frac{C_{\phi}}{8\pi^2} \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_u,
\frac{d}{d\ln\mu} C_d(\mu) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left\{ \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_d, C_d \right\} - \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} C_Q \mathbf{y}_d + \frac{C_{\phi}}{8\pi^2} \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_d,
\frac{d}{d\ln\mu} C_{\phi}(\mu) = \frac{3}{8\pi^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[C_Q (\mathbf{y}_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} - \mathbf{y}_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger}) \right] + \frac{3}{8\pi^2} \operatorname{Tr} (C_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_d - C_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} \mathbf{y}_u)
+ \frac{3}{8\pi^2} C_{\phi} \operatorname{Tr} (\mathbf{y}_u \mathbf{y}_u^{\dagger} + \mathbf{y}_d \mathbf{y}_d^{\dagger}),$$
(6.20)

where all quantities on the right-hand side are evaluated at the scale μ . Note that the operator O_B does not mix into the remaining operators under renormalization, and hence



Figure 5. Representative Feynman diagrams contributing to the mixing of the operators O_Q^{ij} , O_u^{ij} , O_d^{ij} and O_{ϕ} . These graphs must be supplemented by external-leg corrections (not shown).

there are no contributions proportional to the Wilson coefficient C_B in these equations.¹ The anomalous dimensions entering above can also be inferred from the results obtained in ref. [34]. Compared with the findings of these authors, we obtain different signs for all terms proportional to C_{ϕ} on the right-hand side of (6.20). To solve the system of equations (6.20), we work in the basis where the up-quark Yukawa matrix is diagonal and neglect all Yukawa couplings other than y_t , which is an excellent approximation numerically. Expression (6.18) then reduces to

$$C_{\phi\phi}(m_{Z'}) = -\frac{g'}{2} \left[\xi_{\text{eff}} + u^2 C_B(m_{Z'}) \right] - \frac{g_{Z'} g'^2 u^2}{48\pi^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[C_Q(m_{Z'}) + 2C_u(m_{Z'}) - C_d(m_{Z'}) \right] \left(\frac{5}{3} + i\pi \right)$$
(6.21)
$$+ g_{Z'} u^2 \left\{ C_\phi(m_{Z'}) - \frac{3y_t^2(m_{Z'})}{16\pi^2} \left[C_Q^{33}(m_{Z'}) - C_u^{33}(m_{Z'}) \right] (2 + i\pi) \right\},$$

where $C_{u,Q}^{nn} \equiv (C_{u,Q})_{nn}$, and we have chosen $\mu_{Z'} = m_{Z'}$ for simplicity. The relevant evolution equations simplify to (there is no need to consider off-diagonal indices in generation space)

$$\frac{d}{d\ln\mu}C_X^{11}(\mu) = \frac{d}{d\ln\mu}C_X^{22}(\mu) = \frac{d}{d\ln\mu}C_d^{33}(\mu) = 0; \quad X = Q, u, d,$$

$$\frac{d}{d\ln\mu}C_Q^{33}(\mu) = \frac{y_t^2(\mu)}{16\pi^2} \left[C_Q^{33}(\mu) - C_u^{33}(\mu) + C_{\phi}(\mu)\right],$$

$$\frac{d}{d\ln\mu}C_u^{33}(\mu) = -\frac{y_t^2(\mu)}{8\pi^2} \left[C_Q^{33}(\mu) - C_u^{33}(\mu) + C_{\phi}(\mu)\right],$$

$$\frac{d}{d\ln\mu}C_{\phi}(\mu) = \frac{3y_t^2(\mu)}{8\pi^2} \left[C_Q^{33}(\mu) - C_u^{33}(\mu) + C_{\phi}(\mu)\right].$$
(6.22)

The solution to this system of equations can be written in the form (with X = Q, u, d)

$$C_X^{11}(m_{Z'}) = C_X^{11}(m_X), \quad C_X^{22}(m_{Z'}) = C_X^{22}(m_X), \quad C_d^{33}(m_{Z'}) = C_d^{33}(m_X), \quad (6.23)$$

¹This statement remains true when a portal coupling of the form $S^{\dagger}S \phi^{\dagger}\phi$ is included in the effective Lagrangian of the intermetidate EFT.

and

$$C_Q^{33}(m_{Z'}) = C_Q^{33}(m_X) + \frac{1}{9} \left[C_Q^{33}(m_X) - C_u^{33}(m_X) + C_{\phi}(m_X) \right] U(m_X, m_{Z'}),$$

$$C_u^{33}(m_{Z'}) = C_u^{33}(m_X) - \frac{2}{9} \left[C_Q^{33}(m_X) - C_u^{33}(m_X) + C_{\phi}(m_X) \right] U(m_X, m_{Z'}), \qquad (6.24)$$

$$C_{\phi}(m_{Z'}) = C_{\phi}(m_X) + \frac{2}{3} \left[C_Q^{33}(m_X) - C_u^{33}(m_X) + C_{\phi}(m_X) \right] U(m_X, m_{Z'}),$$

where

$$U(m_X, m_{Z'}) = \exp\left[\int_{m_X}^{m_{Z'}} \frac{d\mu}{\mu} \frac{9y_t^2(\mu)}{16\pi^2}\right] - 1.$$
(6.25)

In this solution the large logarithms $\ln(m_X^2/m_{Z'}^2)$ are resummed in the leading logarithmic approximation and to all orders of perturbation theory. In the leading logarithmic approximation, where the anomalous dimensions are computed at one-loop order, one should use the tree-level matching conditions in this solution. For the coefficients needed in (6.21), this gives

$$\operatorname{Tr} \boldsymbol{C}_{Q}(m_{Z'}) = \frac{\boldsymbol{Y}_{Q}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Y}_{Q}}{2m_{Q}^{2}} + \frac{1}{18} \left(\frac{|Y_{Q,3}|^{2}}{m_{Q}^{2}} + \frac{|Y_{U,3}|^{2}}{m_{U}^{2}} \right) U(m_{X}, m_{Z'}),$$

$$\operatorname{Tr} \boldsymbol{C}_{u}(m_{Z'}) = -\frac{\boldsymbol{Y}_{U}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Y}_{U}}{2m_{U}^{2}} - \frac{1}{9} \left(\frac{|Y_{Q,3}|^{2}}{m_{Q}^{2}} + \frac{|Y_{U,3}|^{2}}{m_{U}^{2}} \right) U(m_{X}, m_{Z'}),$$

$$\operatorname{Tr} \boldsymbol{C}_{d}(m_{Z'}) = -\frac{\boldsymbol{Y}_{D}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Y}_{D}}{2m_{D}^{2}},$$

$$C_{Q}^{33}(m_{Z'}) - C_{u}^{33}(m_{Z'}) = \left(\frac{|Y_{Q,3}|^{2}}{m_{Q}^{2}} + \frac{|Y_{U,3}|^{2}}{m_{U}^{2}} \right) \left[\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{6} U(m_{X}, m_{Z'}) \right],$$

$$C_{\phi}(m_{Z'}) = \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{|Y_{Q,3}|^{2}}{m_{Q}^{2}} + \frac{|Y_{U,3}|^{2}}{m_{U}^{2}} \right) U(m_{X}, m_{Z'}),$$

$$(6.26)$$

The evolution equation for the Wilson coefficient C_B of the operator shown in the second line of (6.12) receives contributions from all of the remaining operators. The relevant Feynman graphs are illustrated in figure 6. We obtain

$$\frac{d}{d\ln\mu} C_B(\mu) = \gamma_B C_B - \frac{g_{Z'}g'}{12\pi^2} \operatorname{Tr}(C_Q + 2C_u - C_d) - \frac{g_{Z'}g'}{24\pi^2} C_\phi, \qquad (6.27)$$

with

$$\gamma_B = \frac{7g_{Z'}^2}{48\pi^2} + \frac{41g'^2}{96\pi^2} + \frac{\lambda_S}{8\pi^2} \,, \tag{6.28}$$

where again all quantities on the right-hand side are evaluated at the scale μ . The quartic coupling λ_S is defined as $\mathcal{L}_{\text{quartic}} = -\frac{\lambda_S}{4} (S^{\dagger}S)^2$. The general solution of this equation reads

$$C_B(m_{Z'}) = C_B(m_X) U_B(m_X, m_{Z'})$$

$$- \int_{m_X}^{m_{Z'}} \frac{d\mu}{\mu} \frac{g_{Z'}(\mu) g'(\mu)}{12\pi^2} \left[\operatorname{Tr} \left[C_Q(\mu) + 2C_u(\mu) - C_d(\mu) \right] + \frac{C_{\phi}(\mu)}{2} \right] U_B(\mu, m_{Z'}),$$
(6.29)



Figure 6. Representative Feynman diagrams contributing to the mixing of the operators $O_{Q,u,d}^{ij}$ and O_{ϕ} into O_B (top row) and to the multiplicative renormalization of O_B (bottom row). These graphs must be supplemented by external-leg corrections (not shown).

where

$$U_B(m_X, m_{Z'}) = \exp\left[\int_{m_X}^{m_{Z'}} \frac{d\mu}{\mu} \gamma_B(\mu)\right].$$
(6.30)

In the leading logarithmic approximation one should use the tree-level matching condition $C_B(m_X) = 0$ along with the solutions (6.26) when evaluating expression (6.29). At one-loop order, the running coupling $g_{Z'}(\mu)$ satisfies the evolution equation

$$\frac{dg_{Z'}}{d\ln\mu} = \frac{13g_{Z'}^3}{48\pi^2} + \dots$$
(6.31)

7 Conclusions

We have constructed an effective field theory describing the decays into SM particles of a new heavy vector resonance with mass far above the electroweak scale. Our approach implements a consistent expansion of the corresponding decay rates in powers of the ratio of the electroweak scale and the resonance mass. It is completely model independent and allows for arbitrarily complicated UV completions, which can have multiple heavy particles beyond the vector resonance and additional sectors at scales higher than the resonance mass itself. The light SM particles are described by collinear and soft fields in the language of SCET, while the massive resonance is treated using a heavy-vector effective theory akin to HQET. The latter is necessary to provide a consistent power counting as well as to alleviate the issue of renormalizability in theories with massive vector bosons. For the important example of a heavy Z' boson, which is a singlet under the SM gauge group, we have constructed the operator basis for two-body (or two-jet) decays into SM particles at leading and next-to-leading order in the power expansion, and we have expressed the corresponding decay rates in terms of the Wilson coefficients of these operators. We have also derived the RG evolution equations for the Wilson coefficients and solved them for a few representative cases. In this way, large logarithmic corrections to the decay rates can be resummed to all orders in perturbation theory, generally resulting in significant $\mathcal{O}(1)$

corrections. With the example of a massive color-octet vector resonance (e.g. a Kaluza-Klein gluon), we have discussed the extension of our framework to the case of non-singlet resonances. The formulation of the effective theory presented in this work is done in the symmetric phase of the SM. As a consequence, for processes in which the characteristic mass scales of the final states lie far below the electroweak scale, one would need to perform an additional matching step onto SCET_{BSM} operators defined in the broken phase, which are invariant under $SU(3)_c \times U(1)_{\rm em}$. This matching is straightforward, and hence we have not discussed it here in detail.

To illustrate our approach with a concrete example, we have performed the matching procedure for the most relevant operators in a specific UV model, consisting of an extension of the SM by a massive Z' boson of a new U(1)' symmetry for a gauged $L_{\mu} - L_{\tau}$ lepton number, which is broken spontaneously by the VEV of a new scalar field. Via a set of heavy VLQs the Z' boson also couples to the SM quarks. This model features two new-physics scales: the mass scale of the VLQs and the VEV of the scalar field, which sets the mass of the Z' boson. If these two scales are very hierarchical, large logarithms of their ratio can be resummed by using a two-step matching procedure, which we have discussed in detail.

Our framework represents an economic way of obtaining compact analytic expressions for the decay rates of new massive vector resonances, including the potentially sizable effects from the resummation of double and single Sudakov logarithms. In contrast to performing this resummation using parton showers, as is often done in phenomenological studies, our approach does not require Monte Carlo tools but relies on solving simple differential equations. Importantly, this allows for the inclusion of effects beyond the capabilities of parton showers, including the resummation of electroweak logarithms and of logarithms arising from the Yukawa interactions. Finally, the resummation can straightforwardly be extended to higher orders in perturbation theory.

With the generalization to heavy particles with non-zero spin and resonances carrying non-trivial SM charges, the present work constitutes two important generalizations of the $SCET_{BSM}$ approach, which was originally introduced to study the decays of a hypothetical spin-0 SM singlet resonance [5, 6]. All that is missing now is the long-awaited discovery of some new heavy particle not contained in the SM of particle physics.

Acknowledgments

M.N. thanks Gino Isidori, the particle theory group at Zurich University and the Pauli Center for hospitality during a sabbatical stay. The research of M.H. and M.N. was supported by the Cluster of Excellence *Precision Physics, Fundamental Interactions and Structure of Matter* (PRISMA⁺ – EXC 2118/1) within the German Excellence Strategy (project ID 39083149). M.K. gratefully acknowledges support by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF) under contract 200021–175940 and the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under grant agreement 833280 (FLAY).

A Operator basis at subleading order

Here we present a complete basis of $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^3)$ two-jet operators relevant to the decays of a heavy Z' boson. Without loss of generality we set x = 0 for the spacetime point at which these operators are evaluated. This means that we do not need to include operators containing coordinate vectors (such as insertions of $x_{\perp} \cdot \partial_{\perp}$) arising from the multipole expansion of soft fields, which can in principle arise in higher orders [4]. The operators listed below are genuine power-suppressed SCET operators. In addition there are timeordered products of the leading-order operators in (2.36) with power-suppressed terms in the SCET or HVET Lagrangians.

Fermionic operators. A basis of operators in which a Z' boson couples to a pair of fermions with equal chiralities can be chosen as

$$\begin{split} O_{1}^{ij} &= \Pi \cdot Z_{v}' \left(\bar{\Psi}_{n}^{i} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\perp} \Psi_{\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^{i} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\perp} \Psi_{n}^{j} \right), \\ O_{2}^{ij}(u) &= \Pi \cdot Z_{v}' \left(\bar{\Psi}_{n}^{i} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{(u)\perp} \Psi_{\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^{i} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{(u)\perp} \Psi_{n}^{j} \right), \\ O_{3}^{ij}(u) &= g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}'^{\mu} \left(\bar{\Psi}_{n}^{(u)i} \psi \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Psi_{n}^{j} + \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^{(u)i} \psi \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Psi_{\bar{n}}^{j} \right), \\ O_{4}^{ij}(u) &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}'^{\mu} \left(\bar{\Psi}_{n}^{(u)i} \psi \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Psi_{n}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^{(u)i} \psi \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Psi_{\bar{n}}^{j} \right), \\ O_{5}^{ij} &= (i\partial_{\mu}\Pi \cdot Z_{v}') \left(\bar{\Psi}_{n}^{i} \gamma_{\mu}^{\mu} \Psi_{\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^{i} \gamma_{\mu}^{\mu} \Psi_{n}^{j} \right), \\ O_{6}^{ij} &= \Pi \cdot Z_{v}' \left(\bar{\Psi}_{n}^{i} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\perp} \Psi_{\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{\bar{n}}^{i} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\perp} \Psi_{n}^{j} \right). \end{split}$$
(A.1)

Here and below, operators shown in gray can be omitted from the basis. Since the Z' boson is a gauge singlet and hence does not interact, the matrix elements of operators including a transverse derivative on the field Z'^{μ}_{v} , such as O_5^{ij} , are proportional to the transverse momentum of the Z' boson, and one can always choose a reference frame in which this transverse momentum vanishes. The operator O_6^{ij} can be eliminated using the equations of motion for the fermion fields. When an operator contains more than one collinear field in the same sector, these fields share the total collinear momentum in that sector. A variable $u \in [0, 1]$ then indicates the fraction of the large component of the collinear momentum carried by one of the two fields, as indicated by the superscript "(u)" [5]. The above operators are multiplied by corresponding Wilson coefficients, and in the effective Lagrangian one must take these products plus their hermitian conjugates. The Wilson coefficients of the operator O_1^{ij} form the entries of a hermitian 3×3 matrix in generation space, while the Wilson coefficients of O_2^{ij} can be arbitrary complex numbers. The Wilson coefficients of the operators $O_{3,4}^{ij}$ satisfy the relations $C^{*ji}_{3,4}(u) = -C^{ij}_{3,4}(1-u)$.

A basis of operators in which a Z' boson couples to a pair of fermions with opposite chiralities can be chosen as

$$Q_{1}^{ij} = \Pi \cdot Z_{v}' \left(\bar{\Psi}_{L,n}^{i} \Phi_{0} \Psi_{R,\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{L,\bar{n}}^{i} \Phi_{0} \Psi_{R,n}^{j} \right) = m_{Z'} O_{\psi_{L}\psi_{R}}^{ij},$$

$$Q_{2}^{ij}(u) = \Pi \cdot Z_{v}' \left(\bar{\Psi}_{L,n}^{i} \Phi_{n}^{(u)} \Psi_{R,\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{L,\bar{n}}^{i} \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{(u)} \Psi_{R,n}^{j} \right),$$

$$Q_{3}^{ij}(u) = \Pi \cdot Z_{v}' \left(\bar{\Psi}_{L,n}^{i} \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{(u)} \Psi_{R,\bar{n}}^{j} - \bar{\Psi}_{L,\bar{n}}^{i} \Phi_{n}^{(u)} \Psi_{R,n}^{j} \right),$$

$$Q_{4}^{ij}(u) = g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\bar{\Psi}_{L,n}^{(u)i} \Phi_{\bar{n}} \, \psi \, \gamma_{\perp}^{\nu} \Psi_{R,n}^{j} + \bar{\Psi}_{L,\bar{n}}^{(u)i} \Phi_{n} \, \psi \, \gamma_{\perp}^{\nu} \Psi_{R,\bar{n}}^{j} \right).$$
(A.2)

The Wilson coefficients of these operators can be arbitrary complex numbers. There is no need to include an operator analogous to Q_4^{ij} with $g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp}$ replaced by $\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp}$, because relation (2.30) can be used to relate such an operator to Q_4^{ij} .

Operators containing two Higgs fields. A basis of operators in which a Z' boson couples to a pair of Higgs doublets can be chosen as

$$\begin{split} P_{1} &= g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{0} + \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{0} \right) = O_{A\phi}^{\parallel}, \\ P_{2} &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{0} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{0} \right) = O_{A\phi}^{\perp}, \\ P_{3} &= g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{s} + \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{s} \right), \\ P_{4} &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{s} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{s} \right), \\ P_{5} &= g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\nu} \Phi_{\bar{n}} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\nu} \Phi_{n} \right), \\ P_{6} &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\nu} \Phi_{\bar{n}} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\nu} \Phi_{n} \right), \\ P_{7} &= g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\prime\nu} \Phi_{\bar{n}} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\prime\nu} \Phi_{n} \right), \\ P_{8} &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{(u) \perp \nu} \Phi_{\bar{n}} + \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{(u) \perp \nu} \Phi_{n} \right), \\ P_{9}(u) &= g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{(u) \perp \nu} \Phi_{\bar{n}} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{(u) \perp \nu} \Phi_{n} \right), \\ P_{10}(u) &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{(u) \dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{n} + \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{(u) \dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{\bar{n}} \right), \\ P_{12}(u) &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(\Phi_{n}^{(u) \dagger} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{n} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{(u) \dagger} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu} \Phi_{\bar{n}} \right), \\ P_{14} &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \left(i \partial_{\mu}^{\nu} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \right) \left(\Phi_{n}^{\dagger} \Phi_{\bar{n}} - \Phi_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger} \Phi_{\bar{n}} \right). \end{split}$$

The operators P_{13} and P_{14} can be omitted from the basis if one chooses a reference frame in which the transverse momentum of the Z' boson vanishes. The Wilson coefficients C_k of the operators P_k with k = 5, 6, 7, 8 are real, while the Wilson coefficients of $P_{11,12}$ satisfy $C_{11,12}^*(u) = C_{11,12}(1-u)$. The remaining Wilson coefficients can be arbitrary complex quantities.

Operators containing two or three gauge fields. A basis of operators in which a Z' boson couples to a pair of gauge fields can be chosen as

$$\begin{aligned} R_{1} &= Z_{v}^{\prime \mu} \left(\mathcal{A}_{n\mu}^{\perp a} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\perp}^{\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\nu}^{\perp a} + \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\mu}^{\perp a} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\perp}^{\nu} \mathcal{A}_{n\nu}^{\perp a} \right), \\ R_{2} &= \epsilon_{\nu\alpha}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime \mu} \left(\mathcal{A}_{n\mu}^{\perp a} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\perp}^{\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp \alpha, a} - \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\mu}^{\perp a} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\perp}^{\nu} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp \alpha, a} \right), \\ R_{3} &= \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime \mu} \left(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp \alpha, a} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\perp}^{\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\alpha}^{\perp a} \right), \\ R_{4} &= \epsilon_{\mu\alpha}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime \mu} \left(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp \alpha, a} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\perp}^{\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\nu}^{\perp a} - \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp \alpha, a} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\perp}^{\nu} \mathcal{A}_{n\nu}^{\perp a} \right), \\ R_{5} &= \left(i \partial_{\mu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime \mu} \right) \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp \alpha, a} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\alpha}^{\perp a}, \\ R_{6} &= \left(i \partial_{\mu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime \nu} \right) \left(\mathcal{A}_{n\mu}^{\perp a} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\alpha}^{\perp a} + \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\mu}^{\perp a} \mathcal{A}_{n\nu}^{\perp a} \right), \\ R_{7} &= \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}^{\perp} \left(i \partial_{\mu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime \nu} \right) \left(\mathcal{A}_{n\mu}^{\perp a} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp \beta, a} - \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\mu}^{\perp a} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp \beta, a} \right), \\ R_{8} &= \epsilon_{\nu\beta}^{\perp} \left(i \partial_{\mu}^{\mu} Z_{v}^{\prime \nu} \right) \left(\mathcal{A}_{n\mu\mu}^{\perp a} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp \beta, a} - \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\mu}^{\perp a} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp \beta, a} \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$R_{9} = \epsilon_{\mu\alpha}^{\perp} \left(i \partial_{\perp}^{\mu} Z_{v}^{\prime\nu} \right) \left(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\alpha,a} \, \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}\nu}^{\perp a} - \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\alpha,a} \, \mathcal{A}_{n\nu}^{\perp a} \right),$$

$$R_{10} = i g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp a} \, \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,a} + v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp a} \, \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a} \right) = \frac{1}{m_{Z'}} \tilde{O}_{AA}^{\parallel},$$

$$R_{11} = i \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \left(v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp a} \, \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\nu,a} - v \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp a} \, \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a} \right) = \frac{1}{m_{Z'}} \tilde{O}_{AA}^{\perp}.$$

Because of the relation

$$\epsilon^{\perp}_{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\perp}_{\alpha\beta} = g^{\perp}_{\mu\alpha} g^{\perp}_{\nu\beta} - g^{\perp}_{\mu\beta} g^{\perp}_{\nu\alpha} \tag{A.5}$$

it is not necessary to consider operators in which the indices are contracted with two $\epsilon_{\rho\sigma}^{\perp}$ symbols. The operators R_5 to R_9 can be omitted from the basis if one chooses a reference frame in which the transverse momentum of the Z' boson vanishes. The operators R_{10} and R_{11} , which involve the small components of the gauge fields, can be eliminated using the equations of motion. Generalizing a relation derived in ref. [21] for the case of QCD interactions, we obtain

$$\omega \left(n \cdot \mathcal{A}_{n}^{a}\right)_{\omega} = 2i\partial_{\nu}^{\perp} \left(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a}\right)_{\omega} + \int_{0}^{\omega} d\omega' \frac{2\omega'}{\omega} if_{A}^{abc} \left(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu,b}\right)_{\omega-\omega'} \left(\mathcal{A}_{n\nu}^{\perp c}\right)_{\omega'} - \frac{2g_{A}^{2}}{\omega} \sum_{\psi} \left(\bar{\Psi}_{n} \vec{\eta} t_{A}^{a} \Psi_{n}\right)_{\omega} - 2g_{A}^{2} \int_{0}^{\omega} d\omega' \frac{\omega - 2\omega'}{\omega} \left(\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\right)_{\omega-\omega'} t_{A}^{a} \left(\phi_{n}\right)_{\omega'} - 2g_{A}^{2} \left(\phi_{n}^{\dagger} t_{A}^{a} \phi_{0} - \phi_{0}^{\dagger} t_{A}^{a} \phi_{n}\right)_{\omega}.$$
(A.6)

Here g_A is the relevant gauge coupling, t_A^a are the generators of the gauge group, and the structure constants f_A^{abc} are defined by the Lie algebra $[t_A^a, t_A^b] = i f_A^{abc} t_A^c$. For the case of $U(1)_Y$, $t_A^a = Y$ is the hypercharge generator and the structure constants vanish. The sum in the third term on the right-hand side runs over all chiral fermion multiplets of the SM that are charged under the corresponding gauge group. The terms involving the Higgs doublet are present for the cases A = B, W only. Following [21] we use the label formalism, where ω denotes the eigenvalue of the momentum operator $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_n = i\bar{n} \cdot \partial$ acting on *n*-collinear fields. In order to apply this relation to the last two operators in (A.4) we use that $v \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp a} = \frac{v \cdot \bar{n}}{2} n \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp a}$. The operators generated by eliminating the field $n \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^{\perp a}$ using relation (A.6) are, in the order of appearance, of the form R_i with $i = 1, \ldots, 9$, of the form (A.7) below, of the form O_3 and O_4 , of the form P_{11} and P_{12} , and of the form of P_1 and P_2 . The last term on the right-hand side of (A.6), in particular, implies relation (2.40).

Finally, several operators exist in which a Z' boson couples to three gauge fields. They are of the generic form

$$Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\nu,a} \mathcal{A}_{s}^{\alpha,b} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\beta,c} + (n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}),$$

$$Z_{v}^{\prime\mu} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{(u) \perp\nu,a} \mathcal{A}_{n}^{\perp\alpha,b} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{n}}^{\perp\beta,c} + (n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}),$$
(A.7)

where the Lorentz and color indices must be contracted in an appropriate way. If the three gauge fields refer to the same gauge group, the index contractions must be performed using the ϵ^{abc} symbol for $SU(2)_L$ and the f^{abc} or d^{abc} symbols for $SU(3)_c$. Alternatively, one gauge field can be the hypercharge boson and the other two refer to $SU(2)_L$ or $SU(3)_c$, in which case their indices must be contracted using the δ^{ab} symbol. Note that the operators in the second line carry four transverse Lorentz indices, while for those in the first line the indices μ and α can be arbitrary.

B Mass diagonalization in the vector-like quark model

In matrix notation, the mass terms in the vector-like quark model shown in (6.2) and (6.3) can be written in the form

$$\mathcal{L}_m + \mathcal{L}_Y = -\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_R \, \boldsymbol{M}_Q^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}_L \\ Q_L \end{pmatrix} - \bar{\mathbb{U}}_L \, \boldsymbol{M}_U^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{U}_R \\ u_R \end{pmatrix} - \bar{\mathbb{D}}_L \, \boldsymbol{M}_D^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{D}_R \\ d_R \end{pmatrix} + \text{h.c.}\,, \qquad (B.1)$$

where $M_X^{\dagger} = (m_X \ \frac{u}{\sqrt{2}} Y_X^{\dagger})$ with X = Q, U, D are 1×4 matrices in all three cases. The squared mass matrices are given by

$$\boldsymbol{M}_{X} \boldsymbol{M}_{X}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{X}^{2} & \frac{u}{\sqrt{2}} m_{X} \boldsymbol{Y}_{X}^{\dagger} \\ \frac{u}{\sqrt{2}} m_{X} \boldsymbol{Y}_{X} & \frac{u^{2}}{2} \boldsymbol{Y}_{X} \boldsymbol{Y}_{X}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\boldsymbol{M}_{X}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{M}_{X} = m_{X}^{2} + \frac{u^{2}}{2} \boldsymbol{Y}_{X}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Y}_{X} \equiv M_{X}^{2}.$$
(B.2)

The first one has eigenvalues M_X and 0 (three times), corresponding to the physical mass M_X of the VLQ and the masses of the three light SM quarks in the limit where electroweak symmetry breaking is neglected. The second squared mass matrix is simply a number. We can diagonalize the hermitian matrix $M_X M_X^{\dagger}$ by means of the unitary transformation

$$\boldsymbol{U}_{X}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{M}_{X}\boldsymbol{M}_{X}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{U}_{X} = \operatorname{diag}(M_{X}^{2},0,0,0), \qquad (B.3)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{U}_{X} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{X} & -s_{X} & 0 & 0\\ s_{X} \hat{\boldsymbol{Y}}_{X} & c_{X} \hat{\boldsymbol{Y}}_{X} & \boldsymbol{n}_{X}^{1} & \boldsymbol{n}_{X}^{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B.4)

We have defined the quantities

$$c_X = \frac{m_X}{M_X}, \qquad s_X = \frac{u}{\sqrt{2}M_X} \left(\boldsymbol{Y}_X^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Y}_X \right)^{1/2}, \qquad \hat{\boldsymbol{Y}}_X = \frac{\boldsymbol{Y}_X}{\left(\boldsymbol{Y}_X^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Y}_X \right)^{1/2}}, \tag{B.5}$$

which satisfy $c_X^2 + s_X^2 = 1$ and $\hat{Y}_X^{\dagger} \hat{Y}_X = 1$. The complex unit vectors n_X^i with i = 1, 2are defined such that $\hat{Y}_X^{\dagger} n_X^i = 0$ and $n_X^{i\dagger} n_X^j = \delta^{ij}$. The three unit vectors $\{\hat{Y}_X, n_X^1, n_X^2\}$ form an orthonormal basis in generation space. The mass eigenstates of the left-handed $SU(2)_L$ doublets and right-handed $SU(2)_L$ singlets are related to the interaction states by the matrices U_Q^{\dagger} and $U_{U,D}^{\dagger}$, respectively. Written out in components, this gives

$$(\mathbb{Q}_L)_{\text{mass}} = c_Q \,\mathbb{Q}_L + s_Q \,\hat{\boldsymbol{Y}}_Q^{\dagger} \,Q_L \,, \qquad (Q_L)_{\text{mass}} = \begin{pmatrix} c_Q \,\hat{\boldsymbol{Y}}_Q^{\dagger} \,Q_L - s_Q \,\mathbb{Q}_L \\ \boldsymbol{n}_Q^{1\dagger} \,Q_L \\ \boldsymbol{n}_Q^{2\dagger} \,Q_L \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (B.6)$$

and similarly for the other cases. The second relation, in particular, implies $(\hat{Y}_Q^{\dagger} Q_L)_{\text{mass}} = c_Q \hat{Y}_Q^{\dagger} Q_L - s_Q \mathbb{Q}_L$. It then follows that

$$\mathbb{Q}_L = c_Q \left(\mathbb{Q}_L\right)_{\text{mass}} - s_Q \left(\hat{Y}_Q^{\dagger} Q_L\right)_{\text{mass}}.$$
(B.7)

Analogous relations hold for the right-handed components \mathbb{U}_R and \mathbb{D}_R of the $SU(2)_L$ -singlet VLQs.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, An Effective field theory for collinear and soft gluons: Heavy to light decays, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 114020 [hep-ph/0011336]
 [INSPIRE].
- [2] C.W. Bauer, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, Soft collinear factorization in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 054022 [hep-ph/0109045] [INSPIRE].
- [3] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming, D. Pirjol, I.Z. Rothstein and I.W. Stewart, Hard scattering factorization from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 014017 [hep-ph/0202088] [INSPIRE].
- M. Beneke, A.P. Chapovsky, M. Diehl and T. Feldmann, Soft collinear effective theory and heavy to light currents beyond leading power, Nucl. Phys. B 643 (2002) 431 [hep-ph/0206152] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S. Alte, M. König and M. Neubert, Effective Field Theory after a New-Physics Discovery, JHEP 08 (2018) 095 [arXiv:1806.01278] [INSPIRE].
- [6] S. Alte, M. König and M. Neubert, Effective Theory for a Heavy Scalar Coupled to the SM via Vector-Like Quarks, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 352 [arXiv:1902.04593] [INSPIRE].
- [7] E. Eichten and B.R. Hill, An Effective Field Theory for the Calculation of Matrix Elements Involving Heavy Quarks, Phys. Lett. B 234 (1990) 511 [INSPIRE].
- [8] H. Georgi, An Effective Field Theory for Heavy Quarks at Low-energies, Phys. Lett. B 240 (1990) 447 [INSPIRE].
- [9] M. Neubert, Heavy quark symmetry, Phys. Rept. 245 (1994) 259 [hep-ph/9306320]
 [INSPIRE].
- P. Langacker, The Physics of Heavy Z' Gauge Bosons, Rev. Mod. Phys. 81 (2009) 1199 [arXiv:0801.1345] [INSPIRE].
- [11] A.J. Buras and J. Girrbach, Left-handed Z' and Z FCNC quark couplings facing new $b \rightarrow s\mu^+\mu^-$ data, JHEP 12 (2013) 009 [arXiv:1309.2466] [INSPIRE].
- [12] W. Altmannshofer, S. Gori, M. Pospelov and I. Yavin, Quark flavor transitions in $L_{\mu} L_{\tau}$ models, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 095033 [arXiv:1403.1269] [INSPIRE].
- [13] L. Calibbi, A. Crivellin, F. Kirk, C.A. Manzari and L. Vernazza, Z' models with less-minimal flavour violation, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 095003 [arXiv:1910.00014] [INSPIRE].
- [14] L. Di Luzio, A. Greljo and M. Nardecchia, Gauge leptoquark as the origin of B-physics anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 115011 [arXiv:1708.08450] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Bordone, C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martin and G. Isidori, A three-site gauge model for flavor hierarchies and flavor anomalies, Phys. Lett. B 779 (2018) 317 [arXiv:1712.01368]
 [INSPIRE].
- [16] M.J. Baker, J. Fuentes-Martín, G. Isidori and M. König, *High- p_T signatures in vector-leptoquark models*, *Eur. Phys. J. C* **79** (2019) 334 [arXiv:1901.10480] [INSPIRE].
- [17] R.J. Hill and M. Neubert, Spectator interactions in soft collinear effective theory, Nucl. Phys. B 657 (2003) 229 [hep-ph/0211018] [INSPIRE].

- [18] R.J. Hill, T. Becher, S.J. Lee and M. Neubert, Sudakov resummation for subleading SCET currents and heavy-to-light form-factors, JHEP 07 (2004) 081 [hep-ph/0404217] [INSPIRE].
- [19] L.D. Landau, On the angular momentum of a system of two photons, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 60 (1948) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [20] C.-N. Yang, Selection Rules for the Dematerialization of a Particle Into Two Photons, Phys. Rev. 77 (1950) 242 [INSPIRE].
- [21] C. Marcantonini and I.W. Stewart, Reparameterization Invariant Collinear Operators, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 065028 [arXiv:0809.1093] [INSPIRE].
- [22] W.-Y. Keung, I. Low and J. Shu, Landau-Yang Theorem and Decays of a Z' Boson into Two Z Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 091802 [arXiv:0806.2864] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Becher and M. Neubert, Infrared singularities of scattering amplitudes in perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 162001 [Erratum ibid. 111 (2013) 199905]
 [arXiv:0901.0722] [INSPIRE].
- [24] T. Becher and M. Neubert, On the Structure of Infrared Singularities of Gauge-Theory Amplitudes, JHEP 06 (2009) 081 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2013) 024] [arXiv:0903.1126]
 [INSPIRE].
- [25] G.P. Korchemsky and A.V. Radyushkin, Renormalization of the Wilson Loops Beyond the Leading Order, Nucl. Phys. B 283 (1987) 342 [INSPIRE].
- [26] I.A. Korchemskaya and G.P. Korchemsky, On lightlike Wilson loops, Phys. Lett. B 287 (1992) 169 [INSPIRE].
- [27] B. Jantzen, J.H. Kühn, A.A. Penin and V.A. Smirnov, Two-loop electroweak logarithms in four-fermion processes at high energy, Nucl. Phys. B 731 (2005) 188 [Erratum ibid. 752 (2006) 327] [hep-ph/0509157] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L.N. Mihaila, J. Salomon and M. Steinhauser, Renormalization constants and β-functions for the gauge couplings of the Standard Model to three-loop order, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 096008 [arXiv:1208.3357] [INSPIRE].
- [29] B. Grzadkowski and M. Lindner, Nonlinear Evolution of Yukawa Couplings, Phys. Lett. B 193 (1987) 71 [INSPIRE].
- [30] T. Becher and M. Neubert, Infrared singularities of QCD amplitudes with massive partons, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 125004 [Erratum ibid. 80 (2009) 109901] [arXiv:0904.1021] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Becher and M. Neubert, Infrared singularities of scattering amplitudes and N³LL resummation for n-jet processes, JHEP 01 (2020) 025 [arXiv:1908.11379] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Ferroglia, M. Neubert, B.D. Pecjak and L.L. Yang, Two-loop divergences of scattering amplitudes with massive partons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 201601 [arXiv:0907.4791] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. Ferroglia, M. Neubert, B.D. Pecjak and L.L. Yang, Two-loop divergences of massive scattering amplitudes in non-abelian gauge theories, JHEP 11 (2009) 062 [arXiv:0908.3676]
 [INSPIRE].
- [34] J. Martin Camalich, M. Pospelov, P.N.H. Vuong, R. Ziegler and J. Zupan, Quark Flavor Phenomenology of the QCD Axion, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 015023 [arXiv:2002.04623] [INSPIRE].